

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders outcomes and care. Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality and osteoarthritis.

Lindéus, Maria

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Lindéus, M. (2023). Socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders outcomes and care. Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality and osteoarthritis. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders outcomes and care Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality and osteoarthritis

#### MARIA LINDÉUS DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



# Socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders outcomes and care

# Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality and osteoarthritis

Maria Lindéus, MD



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 31<sup>st</sup> of March 2023 at 09.00 in Segerfalksalen, Sölvegatan 17, 223 62 Lund

Faculty opponent Professor Alma Becic Pedersen Department of Clinical Epidemiology Aarhus University, Denmark

	Documer	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doc TOR	Date of issue		
	31 <sup>st</sup> of Ma	rch 2023		
Author(s)	Sponsorir	n organization		
Maria Lindéus	oponooni	ig organization		
Title and subtitle				
Socioeconomic inequalities in mus	culoskeletal disord	lers outcomes an	d care. Educational inequalities in	
fracture-related mortality and oster	oarthritis			
Abstract				
Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are a to the overall burden of MSDs are fractu 2017:30) states that the goal of all health population. However, there exists a well generally, tend to have poorer health an MSDs. However, the knowledge about in this thesis was to determine the associa osteoarthritis. in order to identify potentic	Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are a major cause of disability worldwide, and two conditions that are major contributors to the overall burden of MSDs are fractures and osteoarthritis (OA). The Swedish Health and Medical Services Act (HSL 2017:30) states that the goal of all health care services is good health and health care on equal terms for the entire population. However, there exists a well-known association between SES and health, where people with lower SES, generally, tend to have poorer health and higher mortality. This association is seen for a wide range of diseases, including MSDs. However, the knowledge about inequalities in MSDs in the Swedish health care system is limited. Thus, the aim of this thesis was to determine the association between SES and outcomes in MSDs, with focus on fractures and			
The studies in this thesis are based on in II) and the whole country of Sweden (stuc cross-sectional design. In addition, study respectively. Educational attainment war Statistics Sweden, The National Board of (STR), and The Swedish Military Consci	ndividual-level register Idy III and IV). Study I- / I and III have a multij s used as an indicator of Health and Welfare, iption Registry.	data from people re III are open cohort s ole cause of death a for SES in all studie The Skåne Healthc	esident in the Skåne region (study I and studies, while study IV has a repeated upproach and co-twin control design, es. Following data sources were used: are Register, The Swedish Twin Registry	
In study I, absolute and relative educational inequalities in non-hip and hip fracture-related mortality were examined using the slope index of inequality (SII) and relative index of inequality (RII), respectively. The study period was between 1998-2014, and 999,148 people were included. Generally, the absolute as well as the relative inequalities revealed higher fracture-related mortality in people with low vs. high education, suggesting that preventative and therapeutic interventions of fractures in low educated people should be targeted.				
Study II assessed the association between education and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among patients with OA (123,993 people) in comparison to an OA-free reference cohort (121,318 people). The study period was from 1998 to 2014, and the inequalities were examined with SII and RII. The results showed that people with lower education, with or without OA, have higher all-cause and cause-specific mortality and that the inequalities observed in OA patients reflect the health inequalities in the population at large. In addition, the results suggest that OA patients, especially with lower education, have a greater burden of cardiovascular diseases, which implies that it is important to focus on the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases in this group.				
The aim of study III was to examine the association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery using twin data. In total, 67,071 twins from the STR were included and the studied time period was between 1987-2016. The main analysis was Weibull within-between shared frailty model. When adjusting for genetics and early-life environment, there was no association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery. However, a confounding familial effect in the association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery was found.				
In study IV changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits were examined. The studied time period was 2001-2011, and the prevalence and inequalities were estimated for each year. The concentration Index was used to assess relative and absolute inequalities. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition method was used to examine the factors contributing to the changes between the years 2001 (4 794,693 people) and 2011 (5 359,186 people). The prevalence of all outcomes rose. Changes in the strength of the association between sociodemographic factors and OA outcomes contributed the most to the increase in knee OA outcomes. For hip OA outcomes, the increase was primarily due to changes in the characteristics of the populations over time. All outcomes were more concentrated among people with lower education. Absolute educational inequalities were either decreasing or steady over time, while there was a declining tendency in relative inequalities for all outcomes. The overall conclusion of the thesis is that there are socioeconomic inequalities in fracture-related mortality and OA-related outcomes in favour of people with higher SES. The associations need to be investigated in more detail in order to be able				
to reduce the observed differences. Key words: Education, Health Inequities, Fracture, Mortality, Osteoarthritis, Osteoarthritis Surgery, Sweden				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical inform	ation		Language: English	
ISSN and key title 1652-8220			ISBN 978-91-8021-377-6	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 81      Price			
	Security classificat	on		
I, the undersigned, being the copyright	owner of the abstrac	t of the above-mer	ntioned dissertation, hereby grant to all	

reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Aleria Lindreg Date 2023-02-16

# Socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders outcomes and care

# Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality and osteoarthritis

Maria Lindéus, MD



Cover photo by Kennet Ruona

Copyright pp 1-81 (Maria Lindéus)

Paper 1 © SAGE Publishing, reprinted with permission

Paper 2 © Wiley, open access

Paper 3 © BioMed Central, open access

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-377-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

In dedication to my mother and father

# Table of Contents

Preface	
Abstract	9
List of papers	11
Abbreviations	
Introduction	13
Socioeconomic status and health Measurements of socioeconomic status Why do health inequalities occur? Why do health inequalities matter?	
Fractures Socioeconomic inequalities in fractures and fracture-related or Osteoarthritis Socioeconomic inequalities in osteoarthritis and osteoarthritis	
Knowledge gaps	
Aims	
Aims	
Aims	23 23 24
Aims	<b>23</b> 23 <b>24</b> 24 24 24 24 24 24
Aims	23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
Aims Specific Aims Methods Study design and overview Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality (study I) Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortal patients (study II) Association between educational attainment and knee and hip (study III) Changes in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery OA spe visits (study IV) Data sources Statistics Sweden The National Board of Health and Welfare	23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
Aims	23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24

The Swedish Interdisciplinary Panel	34
Statistical analyses	35
Age-standardised mortality rate and rate ratio	35
Hazard ratio	35
Slope and relative index of inequality	35
Twin data analysis	36
The concentration index	37
Decomposition analysis	38
Statistical analysis software	39
Ethical considerations	40
Results	41
Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality (study I)	41
Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality in $\Omega\Lambda$ paties	nte
(study II)	43
Association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery	-
(study III)	46
Changes in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits (study IV)	48
Discussion	52
Methodological considerations	52
Internal validity	52
External validity	55
Comparison to previous studies & interpretation and implications of findings	56
Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality in OA	30
natients	57
Association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surge	ry
Changes in knee and hin $\Omega A$ surgery and non-surgery specialist care vis	Jð
Changes in knee and inp OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care vis	59
The magnitude of observed inequalities	60
Conclusions	62
Future perspectives	64
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)	65
Acknowledgments	68
References	69

### Preface

I have always been fascinated by natural science and human behaviour, and this was the reason why I started to study medicine. I started my medical studies at Lund University in 2012. My interest in the relationship between society and health was awakened during my studies, and in 2017 I conducted my master's thesis at the Clinical Epidemiology Unit at Lund University. Epidemiology and health inequality research immediately caught my interest. This, combined with the experience of being a part of a great research group, motivated me to start my doctoral studies at the same research unit in the same year. Since I started my doctoral studies, I have been a part-time PhD student, except for the months I have had full-time research as part of my medical internship and so-called *doktorandmånader* (three months of full-time research funded by the faculty). What concerns my clinical career, I graduated from the medical program in 2018, and between the years 2018-2020 I did my medical internship at the Lund University Hospital. Since 2021 I have been a resident in general medicine.

Health inequality is a problem that affects both the individual and society at large. To reduce inequalities, it is first necessary to identify potential health inequalities and the underlying mechanisms behind them. This thesis provides new insights into socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal disorders, which in turn are a major cause of morbidity worldwide. I hope this thesis can be used as a starting point for further research.

I have greatly enjoyed doing this PhD, and through the studies I have gained knowledge and experiences that I am grateful for. I hope to continue combining research and clinical work in the future.

### Abstract

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are a major cause of disability worldwide, and two conditions that are major contributors to the overall burden of MSDs are fractures and osteoarthritis (OA). The Swedish Health and Medical Services Act (HSL 2017:30) states that the goal of all health care services is good health and health care on equal terms for the entire population. However, there exists a wellknown association between SES and health, where people with lower SES, generally, tend to have poorer health and higher mortality. This association is seen for a wide range of diseases, including MSDs. However, the knowledge about inequalities in MSDs in the Swedish health care system is limited. Thus, the aim of this thesis was to determine the association between SES and outcomes in MSDs, with focus on fractures and osteoarthritis, in order to identify potential health inequalities.

The studies in this thesis are based on individual-level register data from people resident in the Skåne region (study I and II) and the whole country of Sweden (study III and IV). Study I-III are open cohort studies, while study IV has a repeated cross-sectional design. In addition, study I and III have a multiple cause of death approach and co-twin control design, respectively. Educational attainment was used as an indicator for SES in all studies. Following data sources were used: Statistics Sweden, The National Board of Health and Welfare, The Skåne Healthcare Register, The Swedish Twin Registry (STR), and The Swedish Military Conscription Registry.

In study I, absolute and relative educational inequalities in non-hip and hip fracturerelated mortality were examined using the slope index of inequality (SII) and relative index of inequality (RII), respectively. The study period was between 1998-2014, and 999,148 people were included. Generally, the absolute as well as the relative inequalities revealed higher fracture-related mortality in people with low vs. high education, suggesting that preventative and therapeutic interventions of fractures in low educated people should be targeted.

Study II assessed the association between education and all-cause and causespecific mortality among patients with OA (123,993 people) in comparison to an OA-free reference cohort (121,318 people). The study period was from 1998 to 2014, and the inequalities were examined with SII and RII. The results showed that people with lower education, with or without OA, have higher all-cause and causespecific mortality and that the inequalities observed in OA patients reflect the health inequalities in the population at large. In addition, the results suggest that OA patients, especially with lower education, have a greater burden of cardiovascular diseases, which implies that it is important to focus on the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases in this group. The aim of study III was to examine the association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery using twin data. In total, 67,071 twins from the STR were included and the studied time period was between 1987-2016. The main analysis was Weibull within-between shared frailty model. When adjusting for genetics and early-life environment, there was no association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery. However, a confounding familial effect in the association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery was found.

In study IV changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits were examined. The studied time period was 2001-2011, and the prevalence and inequalities were estimated for each year. The concentration Index was used to assess relative and absolute inequalities. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition method was used to examine the factors contributing to the changes between the years 2001 (4 794,693 people) and 2011 (5 359,186 people). The prevalence of all outcomes rose. Changes in the strength of the association between sociodemographic factors and OA outcomes contributed the most to the increase in knee OA outcomes. For hip OA outcomes, the increase was primarily due to changes in the characteristics of the populations over time. All outcomes were more concentrated among people with lower education. Absolute educational inequalities were either decreasing or steady over time, while there was a declining tendency in relative inequalities for all outcomes.

The overall conclusion of the thesis is that there are socioeconomic inequalities in fracture-related mortality and OA-related outcomes in favour of people with higher SES. The associations need to be investigated in more detail in order to be able to reduce the observed differences.

### List of papers

This thesis is based on the following studies, which have been reprinted with permission from the publishers. Throughout the thesis, the four studies are referred to with Roman numerals.

- I. Lindéus M, Englund M, Kiadaliri A. Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality using multiple cause of death data in the Skåne region, Sweden. *The Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*. 2020;48(1):72-79.
- II. Lindéus M, Turkiewicz A, Englund M, Kiadaliri A. Socioeconomic inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality among patients with osteoarthritis in the Skåne region of Sweden. *Arthritis Care & Research.* 2022;74(10):1704-1712.
- III. Lindéus M, Turkiewicz A, Magnusson K, Englund M, Kiadaliri A. Does lower educational attainment increase the risk of osteoarthritis surgery? A Swedish twin study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2023;24(1):72.
- IV. Lindéus M, Peat G, Englund M, Kiadaliri A. Changes in educational inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits over time in Sweden. In manuscript.

## Abbreviations

ASMR	Age-standardised mortality rates
BMI	Body mass index
BOA	Better management of patients with osteoarthritis
CI	Confidence interval
HR	Hazard ratio
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
LISA	The Longitudinal Integration Database of Health Insurance and Labour Market Studies
OA	Osteoarthritis
RIF	Recentered influence function
RII	Relative index of inequality
RR	Rate ratio
SES	Socioeconomic status
SHR	The Skåne Healthcare Register
SII	Slope index of inequality
STR	The Swedish Twin Registry
UCD	Underlying cause of death
WI	Wagstaff Index
YLDs	Years lived with disability

# Introduction

The Swedish Health and Medical Services Act (HSL 2017:30) states that the goal of all health care services is good health and health care on equal terms for the entire population. Still, well-known health inequalities exist in Sweden, where people with lower socioeconomic status (SES), generally, tend to have poorer health status and higher mortality (1). This phenomenon is known as *the social gradient in health* and is seen globally regarding mortality as well as for a wide range of diseases (2), including musculoskeletal disorders.

### Socioeconomic status and health

A person's health is a product of biological, environmental, and social factors, and this is illustrated in Figure 1. A well-known determinant of health is SES (3, 4). According to Oxford Reference SES is "a descriptive term for the position of persons in society, based on a combination of occupational, economic, and educational criteria, usually expressed in ordered categories, that is, on an ordinal scale"(5).

Health differences between individuals or groups are referred to as health inequality (3, 4). The term *health inequality* does not take into account whether the observed difference is just/unjust. In contrast, the term *health inequity* refers to a systematic difference in health that is unjust since it could have been preventable (3, 4). Thus, it has been suggested that one could consider health differences related to biological variations and free informed choice as just inequalities or unavoidable, while differences related to less choice in lifestyle, differences in working conditions and access to health care etc. are considered to be unjust and avoidable (4). In this thesis the term *health inequality* will be used.

#### Measurements of socioeconomic status

Different indicators of socioeconomic position can be used in health research, for instance: educational attainment, income, wealth, occupation, employment and housing etc. (3). A widely accepted indicator for SES in health inequality research is educational attainment (6). In this thesis educational attainment was used as an

indicator for SES. Educational attainment is easy to measure and is less likely to fluctuate in comparison to income and occupation. Additionally, higher educational attainment offers, in general, better employment prospects and there is a strong association between educational attainment and income (7).



*Figure 1. Determinants of health. The image is based on the Dahlgren-Whitehead model of health determinants (8).* 

#### Education in Sweden

In Sweden, compulsory schooling was introduced in 1842, and in the 1930s it was decided that the compulsory school should be at least seven years. The first version of the current compulsory school, with nine-years compulsory schooling, was introduced in the 1960s (9). What concerns secondary school, the first version of the current *Gymnasieskola* was introduced in the 1970s and replaced the previous school forms: *gymnasium*, *fackskola*, and *yrkesskola* (10). Post-secondary education is given at universities and university colleges (Swedish: *högskola*). The compulsory and secondary school is tuition-free (11). What concerns post-secondary education, Swedish citizens, along with citizens of the European

Union/European Economic Area, do not pay tuition at Swedish universities/university colleges. In addition, financial aid to students is available from the government (12).

Since the past few decades, the level of education of the Swedish population has increased substantially. As an example, in 2007 34% of people aged 20-64 years had some kind of post-secondary education (>12 years of education), while the corresponding percent in 1990 was 21%. It is estimated that the percentage of people with <9 years of education will drop from 31% in 1990 to 10% in 2030 (13). It is mainly among females where the level of education has increased (13). A report by Statistics Sweden from 2014 showed that level of education differs between age groups and the sexes (14). The study reported that it is most common to have <9 years of education in the oldest age group (55-64 years old) in the working population (14). Furthermore, in the working population men had, in all age groups in comparison to females, to a greater extent <9 years of education (14). In addition, for people aged 75 years and older, only 7-11% had a post-secondary education that was at least 16 years or more, and more men than females were in this group (14).

When comparing educational attainment of foreign-born people, which is a group that, generally, tend to have poorer health compared to Swedish-born (1), some educational differences were reported, where the former group has somewhat lower education (15). This difference concerns mainly low education, where there is a larger proportion foreign-born people (20%) with low education (primary education at most) compared to Sweden-born people (9%) (15). However, the proportion of people with post-secondary education is approximately the same among Sweden-and foreign-born people. What concerns highly educated people with at least three years of post-secondary education, the proportion is also equally large between the groups (15).

Why do health inequalities occur?

There exist different explanations on why health inequalities occur, such as *the health selection hypothesis, the indirect selection hypothesis,* explanations that point to differences in *material* and *psychosocial* factors, *behavioural* differences, and differences in *biomedical* factors (3).

The health selection hypothesis refers to the theory that health influences SES rather than the reverse. Thus, the theory implies that health inequalities emerge as a result of healthier people moving towards higher socioeconomic positions relative to less healthy people (3). In contrast, *the indirect selection hypothesis*, does not assume a causal association between SES and health. Instead, the theory suggests that there exist unknown factors (such as genetics, family background etc.) that influence both health and SES (16). Socioeconomic differences in material resources and their effect on physical threats (like inadequate diet, poor housing, environmental exposures, physical hazards at work etc.) is another explanation of socioeconomic health inequalities (3, 17). As an example, income has been reported to be strongly associated with mortality (18).

Psychosocial factors as an explanation for health disparities posits that people with lower SES might experience more negative psychological stress (due to feelings from social exclusion, stress, discrimination, low social support etc.) which in turn affects their health in a negative way. The mechanism is thought to be an activation of the biological stress response which in turn might affect/cause increased blood pressure, heart rate, inflammation etc. (3, 19)

The behavioural explanation assumes that there might exist behavioural differences (e.g. eating habits, cancer screening, smoking prevalence etc.) between social groups which in turn contribute/cause health inequalities (3). For example, it has been reported that behaviours such as smoking and physical inactivity are less common among people with high educational attainment (20). Additionally, it has been reported that people with higher education are more likely, compared to people with lower education, to participate in screening programs, and to use primary and specialist care (20).

The explanation that points to differences in biomedical factors refers to the theory that there exist differences in biological health risk factors across social groups or individuals in a population (3). The theory focuses on the processes leading to diseases and how, psychosocial and behavioural factors affect physiological mechanisms (17).

Another important concept in health inequality research is the so-called *life course perspective* (Figure 2), which takes aspects from the other explanations into consideration. The perspective acknowledges that an individual's current health status is a result of both past and present circumstances, including effects from infancy and childhood (3).

Why do health inequalities matter?

There are different aspects on why health inequalities matter and why it is important to reduce them. A national commission for equity in health was established in 2015 by the then Swedish government. In a report from 2016 the commission states that health inequality is a problem that has to be highlighted and addressed by various actors in the community, and that the health inequalities can be seen as a problem from the perspective of the individual as well as from the society as a whole (21). Regarding the perspective of the individual there are aspects concerning moral, justice, the law and human rights. It is ethically problematic that health, which has a central role in peoples' life, systematically differs between social groups (21). In addition, health is not only an important value in itself for people, but also an important resource for other central activities in life such as work and livelihood. Many people with poorer health status (for instance manual workers) are usually more dependent on good health to be able to carry out their work and livelihood, which adds to the injustice (21). Moreover, Swedish law regulates society's obligations toward citizens and residents, and in one of the four fundament laws, the Instrument of Government, it says that society should aim for good health conditions. Due to the fact that it applies to everyone, this implies that society should strive to equalize health variations (21). Furthermore, Sweden is committed to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, where the right to life and living standard sufficient for health and well-being is included (21). From a societal perspective resource utilisation is one aspect of importance when viewing health inequality as a problem (21). This is since the inequalities in health and premature deaths between different social groups do not only impose a substantial burden/years of life lost to the affected individuals, but also societal costs associated with loss of production, sick leave and health care (21).



Figure 2. Image describing the life course perspective of the impact of SES on health. The image is based on image by Adler et al. (22).

### Musculoskeletal disorders

Musculoskeletal disorders are diseases affecting muscles, joints, bones and connective tissues. The burden of musculoskeletal disorders is substantial (23). In 2019 approximately 1,7 billion people lived with musculoskeletal disorders and the same year musculoskeletal disorders contributed to 17% of all years lived with disability (YLDs) globally (23). Two conditions that are major contributors to the overall burden of musculoskeletal disorders are fractures and osteoarthritis (23) and this thesis focuses on these conditions.

#### Fractures

In 2020 approximately 103,400 fractures were registered in Sweden (24). Fractures are associated with a heavy burden on the affected individual since fractures, especially hip fractures, are associated with an increased risk of morbidity as well as mortality (25-27)

Fractures are partial or complete breaks in the bone and can be categorised as traumatic fractures, pathological fractures and stress fractures. Excessive external forces on the bone cause traumatic fractures, while pathological fractures occur in weakened bone due to pathological processes in it, such as cancer metastases and osteoporosis. Stress fractures are, on the other hand, caused by repetitive activity and overuse (28).

The type and location of fractures vary greatly based on factors related to bone quality and the trauma. Osteoporosis, which causes loss of bone mass, is a major risk factor for fractures (29). Common sites for osteoporotic fractures are the hip, spine, distal forearm and proximal humerus (30). Major modifiable risk factors involved in osteoporosis are inadequate nutritional absorption, lack of physical activity or fall risk, weight loss, cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption (31). Non-modifiable major risk factors involved in osteoporosis are history of falls, older age, female sex, white ethnic background, prior fracture and family history of osteoporosis (31).

A Swedish study by Berg et al. from 2020 (32) found that there are observable differences in fracture incidence between males and females. Males experienced osteoporotic fractures at an older age compared to females. Additionally, higher incidences regarding the majority of fractures were observed at younger ages for men than females, and this finding was suggested to be due to that young males, in contrast to young females, are more likely to take risks and experience high-energy trauma (32).

An important fracture that is well-studied is hip fracture. Hip fracture is one of the most serious bone injuries, and in Sweden in 2021, a total of 14,468 cases of hip fractures in adults were registered in the Swedish Fracture Register (33). Of these fractures, two thirds occurred among females (33). Depending on which location of the hip that is affected, hip fractures are categorised into: cervical fracture, pertrochanteric fracture and subtrochanteric fracture. In Sweden in 2021 approximately 40% of the hip fractures were cervical fractures while the pertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fractures contributed to 40% and 10% of all cases, respectively (33). The mean age for sustaining a hip fracture is 83 years (34). However, the hip fracture types vary with age. The cervical fracture has two peaks. The fracture is relatively common among the youngest adults and after the age of 60 its proportion increases with increasing age. What concerns subtrochanteric fractures, the largest proportion is seen in the youngest adults (33).

Hip fracture, is associated with increased mortality with mortality rate around 20-40% within one year after the time of fracture (25-27, 35-37). Post-hip fracture mortality has been reported to be associated with the following risk factors, among others: male sex, ageing, institutionalization, and the presence of co-morbidities (38).

The treatment of fractures depends, among other things, on fracture site and on what type of fracture it is. Possible treatment methods include immobilization and surgery. What concerns hip fractures, it has been suggested that early surgery (within 24-48 hours) is associated with reduced risk of mortality and morbidity (39). Since 2009 all emergency hospitals in the region of Skåne practice the so-called *Hip Line*, which is an optimised chain of care for patients with suspected hip fracture where a short time to surgery is crucial (40).

Socioeconomic inequalities in fractures and fracture-related outcomes

Socioeconomic inequalities in hip fracture incidence (41-44), post-hip-fracture care (45-47) and post-hip mortality have been reported (48, 49).

What concerns the association between fracture incidence and educational attainment as an indicator of SES, the evidence is inconsistent, where some studies have found an inverse association between hip fracture incidence and educational level (41, 42), while other studies have found no such association (50). According to a Danish study that was published in 2006, high education was associated with a lower risk of hip fractures in subjects under the age of 60 but with a higher risk in those aged 60 and older (43). Another study conducted in the United States, published in 2014, found that higher educational levels were associated with lower fracture rates in non-Caucasian females but not in Caucasian females (44).

Regarding inequalities in post-fracture care, previous studies suggest socioeconomic differences in post-hip-fracture care, where people with low SES receive less overall care and longer time to surgery (45-47).

Some previous studies have examined the association between educational attainment and post-hip fracture mortality (48, 49, 51). In an Italian study, published in 2011, early and late post-hip fracture mortality was examined in 6,896 subjects aged 65 and older. In the study, which was a prospective cohort analysis, there was no conclusive difference between patients with less than eight years of education and those with more than eight years of education in terms of post-hip fracture mortality (51). On the other hand, a Norwegian register-based study published in 2015, involving 56,269 hip fracture patients who were aged 50 and older, found an inverse association between educational attainment and post-hip fracture mortality (48). Similar to the foregoing study, a Danish population-based cohort study from 2017, involving 25,354 participants aged 65 years and older, reported that higher education was linked to significantly lower 30-day mortality after hip fracture (49).

#### Osteoarthritis

OA is the most common joint disease (52) and in 2019 OA was the 18<sup>th</sup> leading cause of global YLDs in people aged 50-74 years (53). In Sweden, it was estimated that in 2012, 26.6% of those aged 45 years and older had OA that had been diagnosed by a doctor (54). In the future, it is projected that the prevalence of OA will rise, and that the prevalence of doctor-diagnosed OA will reach 29.5% in 2032 (54).

OA is considered to affect the whole joint and is characterised by alterations in the articular cartilage, ligaments, subchondral bone, capsule and synovial membrane, which in turn can lead to joint failure (55). The condition can affect almost any joint, but it most often affects the knees, hips, and small joints in the hands (56). Common symptoms of OA are pain, functional impairment and decreased quality of life (52). The symptoms of OA are weakly associated with radiographic findings and vice versa (52, 57). The diagnosis of OA is made with the support of a combined assessment of anamnesis, symptoms and clinical findings (52). Imagining is an important supplement when the diagnosis is uncertain and when differential diagnoses need to be ruled out (52). OA can be categorised as primary and secondary, where the latter form can be attributed to factors such as trauma, abnormal joints at birth, surgery on joint structures etc. (55). The aetiology of OA is not fully known and both genetics as well as environmental factors contribute to the disease. According to twin studies about 47-73% and 18-53% of the variance in hip and knee OA surgery, respectively, can be attributed to genetics (58-60).

Person-level risk factors involved in OA are older age, female sex, genetics and adiposity (55). Important joint-level risk factors are joint injury, repetitive joint use and joint malalignment (55).

Treatment of OA can be divided into basic treatment, adjunctive treatment, and surgical treatment (Figure 3). According to the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's national guidelines, the basic treatment of OA should consist of patient education, weight reduction, exercise etc. (52). In Sweden, a physiotherapist-based intervention, known as *Artrosskola* (English translation: *OA-school*) has been implemented as a component of the national program *Better management of patients with osteoarthritis* (BOA). In the *Artrosskola* patients receive education about OA in a standardised way. BOA was initiated in 2008 and since 2010 BOA has also been a National Quality Register (https://boa.registercentrum.se/). In case of insufficient effect of the basic treatment, adjunctive treatment (e.g. pharmacologic treatment of pain) can be added. Surgical intervention is an option if the patient suffers from severe pain and significant functional impairment, where basic treatment and adjunctive treatment have not produced sufficient effect (52). About 30,000 primary knee and hip surgeries were performed due to OA in Sweden in 2019 (61, 62).

What concerns OA and mortality, some investigators have found an increased allcause mortality in OA patients compared to the general population (63-68), however, there also exist studies that have found no such association (69-71). Moreover, studies that have focused on cause-specific mortality have reported an association between OA and higher cardiovascular mortality (64, 66, 68, 72).



Figure 3. Image illustrating the national guidelines for OA treatment. The image is based on image by The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare (52).

Socioeconomic inequalities in osteoarthritis and osteoarthritis-related outcomes

Studies have shown higher prevalence of OA in people with lower SES (73-77) as well as socioeconomic inequalities regarding severity/impact of OA (77-79) and OA surgery (80).

What concerns OA prevalence and SES, several studies with different indicators of SES, such as educational attainment, area-level SES and occupation, have found a higher prevalence of OA in people with lower SES (73-77).

Numerous studies have investigated the association between SES and the severity/impact of OA (77-79). A study conducted in Sweden from 2017, with educational attainment and occupation as indicators of SES, showed a socioeconomic gradient in knee pain, knee OA and health-related quality of life (77). Furthermore, an American (78) and a Finnish study (79) from 2015 and 2008, respectively, suggested similar results. The American study found that people with lower individual- and area-level SES had higher pain and lower function at the time

of total knee arthroplasty in comparison with people with higher SES (78). The Finnish study showed that people with higher educational level reported lower pain scores in hip OA in comparison with people with lower educational attainment (79).

Regarding the association between SES and OA surgery, several studies have investigated the association (80-84). In a Swedish study from 2016, it was reported that lower education was associated with a higher rate of knee arthroplasty due to OA, while the results regarding hip OA were less clear (80). In addition, there exist studies that have investigated the association between SES and OA surgery but using area-based measures of SES such as neighbourhood-level income etc. (81-84).

## Knowledge gaps

In order to implement preventative measures against diseases and health inequalities, it is essential to, at first, identify potential inequalities and then study underlying mechanisms and trends.

It is important to study inequalities in all-cause mortality, the burden of diseasespecific mortality as well as contributing causes of deaths in order to improve public health and reduce preventable deaths. What concerns fracture-related mortality, no previous study has examined socioeconomic inequality in fracture-related mortality as a cause of death in the general population. Furthermore, no previous study has assessed socioeconomic inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality among OA patients.

Since a substantial variance in OA surgery is due to environmental factors (58-60), it is important to study potential modifiable risk factors, such as socioeconomic factors, and their association with OA. As stated in foregoing section, socioeconomic inequalities in OA-related outcomes, including OA surgery, has been reported by previous research (73-80). However, previous studies have not taken potentially confounding factors such as genetics and early-life environment into account.

Moreover, even though socioeconomic inequalities in OA-related outcomes have been reported (73-80) and it is predicted that the OA burden in Sweden will rise (54), changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA outcomes in Sweden over time and their contributing factors are unknown.

# Aims

This thesis aims to determine the association between SES and outcomes in musculoskeletal disorders, with focus on fractures and osteoarthritis, in order to identify potential health inequalities.

### Specific Aims

- To assess the absolute and relative educational inequalities in fracturerelated mortality for hip fractures as well as non-hip-fractures using multiple cause of death data in the Skåne region, Sweden (Study I).
- To assess the association between education and all-cause and causespecific mortality among OA patients, and to compare these with a sex- and age-matched cohort free of OA (Study II).
- To estimate the association between educational attainment and OA surgery using twin data from the Swedish Twin Registry (Study III).
- To examine changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits from 2001 to 2011 in Sweden (Study IV).

1) How has the prevalence of knee and hip OA surgery and nonsurgery specialist care visits changed and to what extent can sociodemographic factors explain the changes?

2) How have changes in educational inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits developed and to what extent can sociodemographic factors explain the changes?

# Methods

### Study design and overview

The studies in this thesis are based on individual-level register data from people resident in the Skåne region, the southernmost part of Sweden (study I and II) and the whole country of Sweden (study III and IV). Study I-III are open cohort studies, while study IV has a repeated cross-sectional design. In addition, study I and III have a multiple cause of death approach and co-twin control design, respectively. The studies included are summarised in Table 1.

Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality (study I)

To assess the absolute and relative educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality from hip and non-hip fractures in the Skåne region, a population-based open cohort study was conducted. People aged 30–99 years, resident in the region during 1998–2013 were followed until death, their 100th birthday, relocation outside Skåne, or the end of 2014. The study included people aged 30 years and older because it was assumed that most people had attained their highest level of education by this age. Data on highest level of education, marital status and country of birth was collected from the longitudinal integration database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA) while data on age, sex, place of residence, migration- and vital status was retrieved from the Population Register.

Since fractures cannot be recorded as an underlying cause of death (UCD), a multiple cause of death approach was used, i.e. contributing causes of death on the death certificate was taken into consideration. This method was chosen since it has been reported that multiple cause of death data might provide a more accurate picture of mortality since it accounts for more factors that may be involved in death (85).

From the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's Cause of Death Register following information from the death certificates (Figure 4) was collected: date of death, the UCD, and up to 20 additional causes of death according to the International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10). We defined hip fracture-related death as a death certificate with mention of hip fractures (ICD-10 codes: S72.0–

## Table 1. Overview of the four studies in this thesis

Study I.	
Aim	To assess the absolute and relative educational inequalities in mortality from hip and non-hip fractures in the Skåne region
Study design	Register-based open cohort study with a multiple cause of death approach
Study population	People aged 30–99 years, resident in the Skåne region during 1998–2013
Data sources	Statistics Sweden, the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's Cause of Death Register
Main analyses	The slope index of inequality (SII) and the relative index of inequality (RII)
Study II.	
Aim	To assess the association between education and all-cause and cause- specific mortality among patients with OA in comparison to an OA-free reference cohort
Study design	Register-based open cohort study
Study population	People aged ≥45 years resident in the region of Skåne, with doctor- diagnosed OA of peripheral joints between 1998 and 2013. The reference cohort consisted of age and sex-matched references without OA diagnosis
Data sources	Statistics Sweden, the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's Cause of Death Register, the Skåne Healthcare Register,
Main analyses	The slope index of inequality (SII) and the relative index of inequality (RII)
Study III.	
Aim	To examine the association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery using twin data
Study design	Register-based open cohort study with co-twin control design
Study population	All twins registered in the Swedish Twin Registry born between 1922 and 1980
Data sources	Statistics Sweden, the Swedish Twin Registry, the Swedish National Patient Register, the Swedish Military Conscription Registry
Main analyses	The Weibull model and Weibull within-between shared frailty model
Study IV.	
Aim	To examine changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits from 2001 to 2011 in Sweden
Study design	Repeated cross-sectional design
Study population	All individuals aged ≥35 years resident in Sweden between 2001 and 2011
Data sources	Statistics Sweden and the Swedish National Patient Register (by using the Swedish Interdisciplinary Panel)
Main analyses	The concentration index and the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition method

72.2, T93.1) while non-hip fracture-related death was defined as a death certificate with any mention of following ICD-10 codes: M80, S02, S12, S22.0–S22.5, S22.8–S22.9, S32.0–S32.8, S42, S52, S62, S72.3–S72.9, S82, S92, T02, T08, T10, T12, T14.2, T90.2, T91.1, T91.2, T92.1, T92.2, T93.2. The descriptions of the codes are presented in Table 2.

The level of education was classified into low (0–9 years of education), medium (10–12 years of education) and high (>12 years of education). Educational inequalities were assessed by slope and relative indices of inequality (SII and RII). Cox regression and additive hazard models were used to estimates these indices and more information about these analyses is in the section *Statistical analyses*. In the models age was used as time scale and these models were adjusted for sex, marital status (never married, previously married and married) and country of birth (Nordic born and non-Nordic born).

Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality in OA patients (study II)

To assess the association between education and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among patients with OA in comparison to an OA-free reference cohort in the Skåne region, a population-based open cohort study was conducted. By using data from the Skåne Healthcare Register, all residents aged  $\geq$ 45 years in the region of Skåne, with doctor-diagnosed OA of peripheral joints between 1998 and 2013 were identified. The ICD-10 codes used to identify people with OA were: M15-M19, which include following groups: polyarthrosis, coxarthrosis, gonarthrosis, arthrosis of first carpometacarpal joint and the group "other arthrosis". The last group does not include arthrosis of spine, hallux rigidus or polyarthrosis. Based on the OA cohort, an age and sex-matched reference cohort without OA diagnosis was created. The subjects of the two cohorts were followed until death, relocation outside Skåne, or the end of 2014. Individual-level data on highest level of education, marital status and country of birth was collected from LISA and data on age, sex, place of residence, migration- and vital status was retrieved from the Population Register. The National Board of Health and Welfare's Cause of Death Register was used to retrieve the UCD and date of death reported on death certificates of the subjects who died during the observation period.

To examine cause-specific mortality the five following causes of death were used: 1) diseases of the circulatory system (ICD-10 codes: I00-I99), 2) malignant neoplasms (C00-C97), 3) mental and behavioural disorders (F00-F99) & diseases of the nervous system (G00-G99), 4) diseases of the respiratory system (J00-J99), and 5) other causes. These groups were chosen because they were the leading causes of death in the study population.

DÖDSORSAKSINTYG



3			
90	Socials	yrel	sen

Till	

Ersätter tidigare utfärdat intyg

Socialstyrelsen

Den avlidnes personuppgifter

Personnummer/samordningsnummer (12 siffror)	Födelsedatum (8 si	ffror) och kön or	n personnr/samordr	i.nr sakna	s Gåreiatt	avaöra
:fternamn		Förnamn				argoia
Bostadsadress	Postn	ummer	Postort			
	Later at					
ana (om el stadigvarande bosan i svenge)	Iden	reien siyrki geno	m			
ödsdatum						
år mån dag (fyll ut med nollor om exakta uppgift	er saknas) Ej säkert	Om dödsdat anträffad dö	um ej säkert, d	År må	n dag	
ödsplats						
Kommun (om okänd dödsplats, kommunen där k	roppen påträffade	5) Sjukhu		Särskilt bo	ende	
		Ordinä	rt boende	Annan/ok	änd	
arn som avlidit senast 28 dygn efter fö	delsen	_				
Dödfött Avlidet inom 28 dvan ef	ter födelsen					
	leriodelsen					
äkarens utlåtande om dödsorsaken" Sjukdoms- eller skadeförlopp som ledde till den te	erminala dödsorsal	en				
Den terminala dödsorsaken var		Ungefärlig d	ebut	Akut	Kronisk	Uppg
A		(	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			
som var en följd av						
som var en följd av C						
som var en följd av						
Andra sjukdomar eller skador som bidragit till död	dsfallet	Ungefärlig d	ebut	Akut	Kronisk	Uppg
		i lai man ado	1/			
		(ar man aag	11			
			n 			
			n 			

Figure 4. The figure shows the first page of a Swedish death certificate (<u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/</u>). In the section concerning cause of death (in Swedish "Läkarens utlåtande om dödsorsaken") the underlying cause of death is described, while the section beneath is for information about contributing causes of death.

Table 2. List of ICD-10 codes with descriptions				
ICD-10 code	Description of code	ICD-10 code	Description of code	
Нір		Thorax		
S72.0	Fracture of neck of femur	S22.3	Fracture of rib	
S72.1	Pertrochanteric fracture	S22.4	Multiple fractures of ribs	
S72.2	Subtrochanteric fracture	S22.5	Flail chest	
T93.1	Sequelae of fracture of femur	S22.2	Fracture of sternum	
Pelvis and vertebrae		S22.8	Fracture of other parts of bony thorax	
S12	Fracture of neck	S22.9	Fracture of bony thorax, part unspecified	
S22.0	Fracture of thoracic vertebra	Shoulder and	upper limb	
S22.1	Multiple fractures of thoracic spine	S42	Fracture of shoulder and upper arm	
S32.0	Fracture of lumbar vertebra	S52	Fracture of forearm	
S32.1	Fracture of sacrum	S62	Fracture at wrist and hand level	
S32.2	Fracture of coccyx	T10	Fracture of upper limb, level unspecified	
S32.3	Fracture of ilium	T92.2	Sequelae of fracture at wrist and hand level	
S32.4	Fracture of acetabulum	Lower limb		
S32.5	Fracture of pubis	S72.3	Fracture of shaft of femur	
S32.7	Multiple fractures of lumbar spine and pelvis	S72.4	Fracture of lower end of femur	
S32.8	Fracture of other and	S72.7	Multiple fractures of femur	
	unspecified parts of lumbar spine and pelvis	S72.8	Fractures of other parts of femur	
	Fracture of: -Ischium	S72.9	Fracture of femur, part unspecified	
	-lumbosacral spine, not otherwise specified	S82	Fracture of lower leg, including ancle	
	-pelvis, not otherwise specified	S92	Fracture of foot, except ankle	
Т08	Fracture of spine, level unspecified	T12	Fracture of lower limb, level unspecified	
T91.1	Sequelae of fracture of spine	T93.2	Sequelae of other fractures of lower limb	
T91.2	Sequelae of other fracture of thorax and pelvis	Other fracture	es	
Skull		M80	Osteoporosis with pathological fracture	
S02	Fracture of skull and facial bones	T02	Fractures involving multiple body regions	
T90.2	Sequelae of fracture of skull and facial bones	T14.2	Fracture of unspecified body region	

The level of education was classified into low (0-9 years of education), medium (10-12 years of education) and high (>12 years of education) and the inequalities in mortality were assessed by the RII and SII which in turn were estimated by the Cox model and Aalen's additive hazard model, respectively. In the models age was used as time scale and the models were adjusted for sex, marital status (never married, previously married and married) and nativity (native and non-native). Native was defined as born in Sweden with at least one Sweden-born parent, while non-native was defined as foreign-born or Sweden-born with both parents born abroad.

# Association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery (study III)

To examine the association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery, dizygotic (DZ) and monozygotic (MZ) incomplete and complete twin pairs from the Swedish Twin Registry (STR) were identified. All twins in the STR aged 35 to 64 on the 1<sup>st</sup> of January 1987 or that turned 35 years during the follow-up were followed until OA surgery, relocation outside Sweden, death or the end of 2016. The reason to start follow-up from age 35 years and older was because it was expected that the majority of people at this age have attained their highest educational level. Moreover, OA is very uncommon before age of 35 years (86). Since most OA surgeries are done in people aged  $\geq$  65 years (87), people aged  $\geq$  65 years were excluded and instead included in a sensitivity analysis. This was done in order to minimize misclassification of the OA-surgery since people aged  $\geq$  65 years might already have had OA surgery before 1987.

Information on sex, zygosity, and vital status of the twins was retrieved from the STR. Data on each twin's educational attainment from the year the twin was included in the study was collected from LISA. Since LISA only has data on educational attainment from 1990, data on education from 1990 for those twins that were included during 1987 to 1989 was used. Information about knee and hip OA diagnosis and OA surgery from 1987 to 2016 was retrieved from the Swedish National Patient Register. From the Statistics Sweden's Population Register information about each twin's place of residence at age 18 and migration status was retrieved. Data on BMI and physical fitness at military conscription at the age of 18 was collected from the Swedish Military Conscription Registry. This data was available for the years 1969 to 1998 for males only, i.e. for males born between 1951 and 1980.

Knee and hip OA surgery were defined as knee (ICD-9 codes: 715, ICD-10 codes: M17) or hip OA diagnosis (ICD-9 codes: 715, ICD-10 codes: M16) registered at the same time with a knee or hip OA-related surgical procedure (arthroplasty or osteotomy). The surgery codes are based on the National Board of Health and Welfare's classification of surgical procedures from 1963 to 1996 (88) and 1997 to

present (89). For knee OA surgery following surgery codes were used: 8424, 8010, 8428, 8423, 8426, NGB49, NGB19, NGK59, NGB29, NGB59, NGB53, NGB09, NGB39. Following surgery codes were used for hip OA surgery: 8414, 8010, 8409, 8419, NFB49, NFB29, NFB39, NFB99, NFK59, NFB62. For description of the surgery codes see Table 3.

The individual's highest educational attainment, which was the ranking variable, was transformed into years of education with a range from 7 to 20 years, where 7 years represented the most basic education and 20 years represented PhD education, see Table 4 regarding the transformation.

Associations between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery were estimated in models matched on twin pairs, using Weibull within-between (WB) shared frailty model and more information about this analysis is in the section *Statistical analyses*. Attained age was used as time-scale in the models and the models were adjusted for sex, birth cohort (1922-1934, 1935-1944, 1945-1954, 1955-1964, 1965-1980) and place of residence at age 18. For the subgroup analysis involving males born between 1951 and 1980, the models were adjusted for BMI and physical fitness at military conscription. In the subgroup analysis, males with missing data on BMI and physical fitness were excluded (N=4,136).

Changes in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery OA specialist care visits (study IV)

Changes in prevalence and socioeconomic inequalities in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits between 2001 and 2011 were examined using national register data and decomposition analysis. All individuals aged >35 years resident in Sweden between 2001 and 2011 were included, and each year from 2001 to 2011 was treated as a cross-section. The lower age limit was based on that it was assumed that the majority of people at this age have attained their highest educational level. The Swedish Interdisciplinary Panel (SIP), which contains information from several official registers, was used to collect individual-level data. Following variables were included into the decomposition analysis: sex (female, male), age (as a continuous variable), country of birth (Sweden-born, foreign-born), civil status (never married, married/registered partnership, previously married/in a partnership), employment (employed, unemployed or not in the labour force), disposable income (five groups based on quintiles), highest educational attainment of mother and father, respectively (>9 years of education, <10 years of education, missing information about education). Country of birth of parents was also included and this variable was categorised as Sweden-born if both parents were born in Sweden and as foreign-born for any other scenario (Sweden-born parents, foreignborn parents, missing information about parents' country of birth).

Table 3. Surgery codes used for knee and hip OA surgery				
Code*	Description of code			
Knee OA surgery				
8424	Bicompartmental knee arthroplasty			
8010	Osteotomy			
8428	Tricompartmental knee arthroplasty			
8423	Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty			
8426	Insertion of patellar prosthesis			
NGB49	Primary total prosthetic replacement of knee joint using cement			
NGB19	Primary partial prosthetic replacement of knee joint using cement			
NGK59	Angulation, rotation or displacement osteotomy of knee or lower leg			
NGB29	Primary total prosthetic replacement of knee joint not using cement			
NGB59	Primary prosthetic interposition arthroplasty of knee joint			
NGB53	Primary patellofemoral prosthesis			
NGB09	Primary partial prosthetic replacement of knee joint not using cement			
NGB39	Primary total prosthetic replacement of knee joint using hybrid technique			
Hip OA surg	ery			
8414	Total prosthetic replacement of hip joint			
8010	Osteotomy			
8409	Other related surgeries (hip arthroplasty without using foreign material)			
8419	Other related surgeries (hip arthroplasty using foreign material)			
NFB49	Primary total prosthetic replacement of hip joint using cement			
NFB29	Primary total prosthetic replacement of hip joint not using cement			
NFB39	Primary total prosthetic replacement of hip joint using hybrid technique			
NFB99	Other primary prosthetic replacement of hip joint			
NFK59	Angulation, rotation or displacement osteotomy of femur			
NFB62	Primary prosthetic replacement of joint surface of femoral head			

\* The surgery codes are based on the National Board of Health and Welfare's classification of surgical procedures from 1963 to 1996 (88) and 1997 to present (89).

Table 4. Definition of years of education				
Statistics Sweden's	Statistics Sweden's description of the code	Years of education in		
SUN 2000		Study		
<200	Pre-secondary education shorter than 9 years	7		
≥200 and <300	Pre-secondary education of at least 9 years	9		
>300 and <320	Secondary education of at least one semester (but not 2 years)	10		
≥320 and <330	Secondary education at least 2 years (but not 3 years)	11		
≥330 and <400	Secondary education of 3 years	12		
≥410 and <500	Postsecondary education of at least one semester (but not 2 years)	13		
≥520 and <530	Postsecondary education of at least 2 years (but not 3 years)	14		
≥530 and <540	Postsecondary education of at least 3 years (but not 4 years)	15		
≥540 and <550	Postsecondary education of at least 4 years (but not 5 years)	16		
≥550 and <600	Postsecondary education of 5 years or longer	17		
≥600 and <640	Other / unspecified research education and Licentiate degree	18		
640	PhD education	20		

The individual's highest educational attainment, which was the ranking variable, was transformed into years of education with a range from 7 to 20 years, where 7 years represented the most basic education and 20 years represented PhD education, see Table 4 regarding the transformation.

Knee and hip OA surgery were defined as knee (ICD-10 codes: M17) or hip OA (ICD-10 codes: M16) registered as the main diagnosis at the same time as a knee or hip OA-related surgical procedure (arthroplasty or osteotomy) was registered. For knee OA surgery we used the following surgery codes: NGB49, NGB19, NGK59 NGB29, NGB59, NGB53, NGB09, and NGB39. Following surgery codes were used for hip OA surgery: NFB49, NFB29, NFB39, NFB99, NFK59, and NFB62. The surgery codes are based on the National Board of Health and Welfare's classification of surgical procedures (89) and for description of the codes see Table 3. Knee and hip OA non-surgery specialist care visits were defined as knee (ICD-

10 codes: M17) or hip OA (ICD-10 codes: M16) registered as the main diagnosis without OA-related surgical procedure registered at the same time.

People with more than one OA surgery and/or non-surgery specialist care visit in a year were only counted once per year.

The concentration index was used to assess educational inequality in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition method was used to examine changes in prevalence and educational inequalities of the OA outcomes between the two years 2001 and 2011. More information about the concentration index and decomposition analysis is in the section *Statistical analyses*.

### Data sources

#### Statistics Sweden

Statistics Sweden is a government agency responsible for official statistics. LISA, which is maintained by Statistics Sweden, was used to retrieve information about the subjects' educational level, marital status, country of birth, income and employment. LISA integrates data from social and educational sectors as well as from the labour market. The database contains data from the year 1990 and forward on all people aged 16 or older (from the year 2010 people aged 15 are also included) who were registered in Sweden on 31 and December each year (https://scb.se/en/).

The Population Register from Statistics Sweden was used to collect information about the subject's age, sex, place of residence, migration- and vital status.

The data provided by Statistics Sweden is of good quality and the quality of the official statistics is evaluated annually (<u>https://scb.se/en/</u>).

#### The National Board of Health and Welfare

The National Board of Health and Welfare is a government agency under the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs and is responsible for developing statistics, regulations, and knowledge for the government, health care workers, and social service providers (<u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/</u>). The National of Health and Welfare's Cause of Death Register was used to retrieve the underlying and additional causes of death in study I and II. The register is considered to be reliable with a high coverage (90).
Information about OA surgery and specialist care visits for study III and IV was retrieved from the National Patient Register, which is maintained by The National Board of Health and Welfare. The Swedish National Patient Register covers inpatient data from 1987. Outpatient specialist care data is available from 2001 and covers, among others, day surgery from private and public caregivers (https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/). The reliability of the register is considered to be good and reflects the data available in the regional patient administrative systems (91).

### The Skåne Healthcare Register

The Skåne Healthcare Register (SHR) was used in study II to identify people with doctor-diagnosed OA. SHR is a regional healthcare register that contains data on all medical consultations, both public and private, in the Skåne region from 1998 onwards. The administrative body of Region Skåne (the regional council of Skåne) is the data controller of SHR. The register is consider to have good coverage and reliable data (92).

### The Swedish Twin Registry

In study III the Swedish Twin Registry (STR) was used to identify complete and incomplete mono- and dizygotic twin pairs. The STR is managed by the Karolinska Institute and is the largest twin cohort in the world containing approximately 85,000 Sweden-born twin pairs.

### The Swedish Military Conscription Registry

The Swedish Military Conscription Register was used in study III to retrieve information about physical fitness and BMI at conscription. The register is managed by The Swedish Defence Conscription and Assessment Agency and contains data on approximately 2 million people between 1969 and 2018. The register covers about 90% of men born between 1951 and 1988 (93).

### The Swedish Interdisciplinary Panel

For paper IV data from the Swedish Interdisciplinary Panel (SIP) was used. The SIP is a database hosted at the Centre for Economic Demography at Lund University and it contains data from several official registers including Statistics Sweden's Population Register and LISA as well as The Swedish National Patient Register. By using the Statistics Sweden's multi generation register in SIP it was possible to link

parent to child and thus get information about country of birth and educational level of parents.

### Statistical analyses

### Age-standardised mortality rate and rate ratio

Age-standardised mortality rates and rate ratio (RR) were calculated in study I. Agestandardised mortality rates, i.e. the mortality rate adjusted to a standard age distribution, were computed with the direct method, using the Swedish population in the year 2000 as the standard population. The rate ratio (RR) was calculated as the ratio of age-standardised mortality rate in the group with low level of education divided by the rate in the group with high level of education.

### Hazard ratio

Hazard ratios (HR) were estimated in study I and study III. The method for obtaining the HR in study III is presented under the heading *Twin data analysis*, while the method used in study I will be presented in this section. HR is an estimate of the ratio of hazard rates of two groups, where hazard is the probability that a certain event will occur at a certain time (small time interval), given that it has not occurred before (94). In study I, HR was estimated by using the Cox proportional hazards model, which is a regression model frequently used in survival analysis (94). Schoenfeld's residuals plot was used to examine the proportional hazards assumption. In order to fulfil the assumption, the study population had to be divided in three and two different age strata when analysing hip fractures and non-hip fractures, respectively.

Slope and relative index of inequality

Slope index of inequality (SII) and relative index of inequality (RII) were used to measure the absolute and relative educational inequalities in mortality in study I-II. The SII measures the absolute difference in health status or health problem frequency between the hypothetical best-placed and worst-placed person, ranked by socioeconomic status. The RII is, on the other hand, the ratio of the health status or health problem frequency in the two extremes (95, 96). The measurements are sensitive to the population size within the different socioeconomic groups, which may change over time. To generate the SII and the RII the educational groups were ordered from highest to lowest level of education. Then the population of each educational group was given a fractional rank, which was based on the midpoint of

its range in the cumulative distribution in the population (95, 96). As an example, if a population consist of 20% with high education, 30% with medium education and 50% with low education, the educational groups will be given the following fractional ranks: high education 0.10 (0.2/2), medium education 0.35 (0.2+(0.3/2)), and low education 0.75 (0.2+0.3+(0.5/2)). The mortality was then regressed against the fractional rank of the different educational groups by using Aalen's additive hazard model for SII and Cox model for RII, while age was used as time-scale. The estimated coefficient of the fractional rank from additive hazard model yields an estimate of SII and the exponential of the estimated coefficient of the fractional rank from Cox model provides an estimate of RII. R-codes from Moreno-Betancur et al. (96) were used to perform the analyses. The indices were adjusted for sex, marital status and country of birth.

### Twin data analysis

Twin data was analysed in study III in order to examine the association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery. We used a co-twin control design where twins were treated as pairs matched on familial confounders like genetics and early-life exposures such as parental characteristics.

We performed both analyses that were unmatched and matched on twin pairs in order to examine the association between education and the outcomes. We assumed that the potential discrepancy between the unmatched and matched estimates were due to the impact of shared genetics and early-life environment (97). The associations were assessed by estimating HRs using Weibull models and the HRs were reported per 3 years of education.

For the unmatched analyses, unmatched twin pairs that included both incomplete and complete DZ and MZ twin pairs were treated as a cohort. In the matched analyses we used the gamma-Weibull within-between (WB) shared frailty model (98) using Mundlak specification. For the WB analyses we used the R-code provided by Dahlqwist et.al (98). In sibling comparison research, WB models are well-established and used to separate the association between exposure and outcome into a "within-cluster effect" and a "between-cluster effect" (97). MZ twins share many potential confounders (100% of their genes (99) and their early-life environment), and when assuming no individual level confounders, the within effect in MZ twin pairs represents a direct causal effect of educational attainment on OA surgery. In the study, the "between-cluster effect" quantified the degree of shared familial confounding in the association between the exposure and the outcome (97) and a "between-cluster effect" different from zero implied the presences of shared familial confounding (97).

In the analyses we assessed DZ and MZ twin pairs combined, and DZ and MZ twin pairs separately. Since MZ twins share 100% of their genes, while DZ twins share,

on average, 50% of their genes (99), any difference between the DZ and MZ estimates were assumed to reflect potential confounding by genetic factors.

Besides using Weibull models, we also did analyses using the Cox model and stratified Cox model. In addition, we also performed analyses treating educational attainment as a binary variable (presented in the supplementary material of study IV). Plots of Schoenfeld residuals were used to evaluate the proportional hazard assumption.

### Confounders

A confounder is associated with the exposure and also independently associated with the outcome (94).

Based on previous research we considered age (13, 14, 38), sex (13, 14, 38), marital status (100-105) and country of birth/nativity (1, 15) as confounders in study I and II.

Besides age (13, 14, 55) and sex (13, 14, 55), we also considered birth cohort, and early-life place of residence (106, 107), BMI (55, 108-110) and physical fitness (111-114) as confounders in study III.

### The concentration index

In study IV, the concentration index was used to assess educational inequality in the outcomes. The concentration curve serves as the foundation for the concentration index. The concentration curve is created by graphing the cumulative proportion of the population (X-axis) ranked by socioeconomic indicator against the cumulative proportion of the desired outcome variable (Y-axis) (115, 116). When the share of the outcome variable is on the y-axis the results represent the Relative Concentration Index (RCI). The concentration curve will be a 45-degree line, running from the bottom left corner to the top right corner, if there is no educational inequality in outcome. This line is known as the line of equality (Figure 5). The area between the concentration curve and the line of equality, multiplied by two, is the RCI. If the concentration curve lies above (below) the 45-degree line, then the value of the RCI is negative (positive) suggesting greater concentration of the outcome among the low (high) SES groups. The magnitude of the RCI ranges from -1 to 1, with a higher absolute value suggesting greater inequalities. However, Wagstaff (117) showed that the range of RCI is not between -1 and +1 when the health outcome variable is bounded (e.g. binary outcomes). To overcome this, Wagstaff suggested the normalization of the RCI, known as the Wagstaff Index (WI). Using the RCI, one can calculate Absolute Concentration Index (ACI) by multiplying the RCI by the mean of health outcome variable (107, 108). Stata's conindex function was used to estimate the WI and ACI (118).



Figure 5. Image illustrating the line of equality (black line) and two concentration curves. The blue line represents a concentration curve where the outcome is more concentrated among people with lower SES. In contrast, the red line represents a concentration curve where the outcome is more concentrated among people with higher SES.

### Decomposition analysis

In study IV, the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition method (119, 120) was used to examine changes in the knee and hip OA outcomes. The decomposition method explains the difference in the means of an outcome variable between two groups and the method was developed in 1973 by Blinder and Oaxaca and originally used to examine labour-market outcomes by groups based on sex and race (119, 120). Besides being applied in labour market studies, the method can also, among others, be used to examine health inequalities (121).

What concerns study IV, the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition was used to examine changes in prevalence and relative educational inequalities (measured by WI) in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits between 2001 and 2011. By using the method, it was possible to determine how much of the changes between 2001 and 2011 that were attributed to differences in the sociodemographic characteristics of the populations (i.e. the explained part), versus differences in the

sociodemographic characteristics' coefficients and unmeasured factors (i.e. the unexplained part) (119, 120). With the population of 2001 as a reference, we computed the decomposition from the perspective of the population of 2011. Consequently, we assessed what the prevalence and inequalities would have been if the population of 2011 had the same sociodemographic characteristics and coefficients as the population of 2001.

We used the *oaxaca* function in Stata to examine changes in prevalence and since the outcomes were binary we used logit model (122).

The Wagstaff method developed by Wagstaff et al. (123) has been the most commonly used method to decompose socioeconomic inequalities (121). However, the approach has limitations. The decomposition method is one-dimensional and focuses on health but not on rank. Thus, it describes the degree of variation in health rather than accounting for the covariance between rank and health (121, 124). There exists other decomposition methods that are two-dimensional and that estimate both health and rank (121, 124), however they are, as the Wagstaff method, limited to only decompose one form of rank dependent index correctly (121). In order to decompose WI in study IV, a recentered influence function (RIF) decomposition method, developed by Heckley et al. (121), was used. Influence functions (IFs) are statistical tools used for analysing the robustness of distributional statistics (125). The RIF decomposition method uses RIF regression. RIFs, which are a special type of IFs, are tools used to examine the impact distributional changes of the exposure variable has on the distribution of the outcome variable (125). The *oaxaca\_rif* function in Stata (125) was used to perform the RIF decomposition.

### Statistical analysis software

*R* is an open-source software environment for statistical computing and graphics (<u>https://www.r-project.org</u>), and it was used to perform the main statistical analyses in study I-III. For the main analyses in study IV the statistical software *Stata* was used (<u>https://www.stata.com</u>).

## Ethical considerations

Since the studies in this thesis involves sensitive data, the studies required approval from an ethical review board before study start (in accordance with the Swedish Ethical Review Act (SFS 2003:460)). The studies were approved by the Regional Ethics Committee in Lund. Study I and II were approved by the diary number 2014/276, while study III and IV were approved by diary numbers 2017/115 and 2012/03, respectively. The data used was stored and managed according to current regulations.

### Results

## Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality (study I)

In study I, 999,148 people were included after excluding 70,337 people (6.6%) with unknown educational attainment, 88 people with missing country of birth, and 72 people with both unknown educational attainment and missing country of birth. A total of 5,121 fracture-related deaths (2.9% of all deaths) were identified during a mean follow-up of 12.2 years. 3,110 (1.8% of all deaths) of the total number of fracture-related deaths were associated with hip fracture. About 50.8% of the included people were females and a majority of the people were Nordic-born and married. Characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1 in Study I.

#### Hip fracture-related mortality

As the educational level decreased the age-standardised, hip fracture-related mortality rates increased (Figure 1, Study I). The age-standardised, hip fracture mortality rates were 31 (95% CI: 30, 32) and 23 (95% CI:20, 26) per 100,000 person-years in people with low and high educational attainment, respectively (representing an RR of 1.4 (95% CI: 1.2, 1.5)). The corresponding mortality rates were 37 (95% CI: 35, 40) and 28 (95% CI: 23, 34) for males (RR 1.3 (95% CI: 1.1, 1.5)) and 28 (95% CI: 26, 29) and 19 (95% CI: 15, 23) for females (RR 1.5 (95% CI: 1.3, 1.7)). The HRs showed increased risk of hip fracture-related deaths in people with a low versus high educational attainment in all age- and sex groups except females aged 30–69 and males aged  $\geq$ 85 years (Table 2, Study I). People younger than 85 years with a medium level of education generally had a higher hip fracture mortality risk compared with those with high-educational attainment, while the results concerning the oldest age strata were inconclusive. Table 5 presents the results concerning RII and SII. The relative inequalities, measured by the RII, ranged from 3.5 (95% CI: 1.7, 7.3) in the youngest age group to 1.3 (95% CI:1.1, 1.6) in those aged  $\geq$ 85 years. The absolute inequalities, measured by the SII, showed that among people aged 30–69 years, there was about one more hip fracture-related death per 100,000 person-years in the least educated compared with the most educated individuals, SII = 1.4 (95% CI: 0.6, 2.1). The corresponding numbers in age group 70-84 and in the oldest age group were approximately 33 (95% CI: 20, 46) and 110 (95% CI: 26, 195), respectively.

index of inequality (RII) in hip fracture-related mortality						
	Inequality measures					
	SII ª	RII				
30-69 years						
All	1.4 (0.6, 2.1)	3.5 (1.7, 7.3)				
Males	2.1 (0.9, 3.3)	5.1 (2.0, 13.2)				
Females	0.5 (-0.5, 1.6)	1.9 (0.6, 6.0)				
70-84 years						
All	33.0 (20.3, 45.7)	1.8 (1.5, 2.3)				
Males	45.6 (26.6, 64.6)	2.1 (1.5, 2.9)				
Females	21.0 (4.8, 37.3)	1.5 (1.1, 2.2)				
85+ years						
All	110.0 (25.5, 194.5)	1.3 (1.1, 1.6)				
Males	23.8 (-122.9, 170.4)	1.0 (0.8, 1.4)				
Females	151.8 (50.9, 252.8)	1.5 (1.1, 1.9)				

Table 5. Slope index of inequality (SII) and relative

<sup>a</sup> per 100,000 person-years

#### Non-hip fracture-related mortality

The age-standardised non-hip fracture-related mortality rates were 20 (95% CI: 18, 21) and 16 (95% CI: 14, 19) per 100,000 person-years in people with a low and high educational attainment, respectively, representing a RR 1.2 (95% CI: 1.0, 1.4). The RR was 1.4, (95% CI: 1.1, 1.6) for males and 1.1 (95% CI: 0.8, 1.3) for females (Figure 2, Study I). Table 6 presents the results concerning RII and SII. The RII showed that among people aged 30–69 years, the risk of non-hip fracture-related mortality was 2.4 times higher (95% CI: 1.6, 3.4) for those with the lowest compared with those with the highest educational attainment. The results concerning absolute and relative educational inequality among people aged  $\geq$ 70 years were inconclusive. The SII showed that there were about 4 (95% CI: 2, 6) more non-hip-fracture deaths per 100,000 person-years in people with the lowest versus the highest educational attainment among those aged 30-69 years. The difference was more noticeable in males than in females.

Table 6. Slope index of inequality (SII) and relativeindex of inequality (RII) in non-hip fracture-relatedmortality						
	Inequality measures					
	SII <sup>a</sup>	RII				
30-69 years						
All	3.9 (2.2, 5.5)	2.4 (1.6, 3.4)				
Males	5.1 (2.6, 7.7)	2.3 (1.5, 3.5)				
Females	2.4 (0.6, 4.2)	2.4 (1.2, 4.8)				
70+						
All	8.1 (-4.7, 20.9)	1.2 (0.9, 1.4)				
Males	15.6 (-2.4, 33.7)	1.3 (1.0, 1.9)				
Females	2.1 (-16.6, 20.8)	1.0 (0.8, 1.3)				

<sup>a</sup> per 100,000 person-years

## Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality in OA patients (study II)

In study II, a total of 123,993 people were included in the OA-cohort (60.9% females) after excluding 4,195 people with unknown educational attainment, five people with unknown nativity, and four people with missing UCD. The final reference cohort consisted of 121,318 people (60.7% females) after 2,671 with unknown educational attainment and four people with unknown nativity were excluded. The mean age at study entry was 66.6 (SD=11.6) for the OA cohort and 66.5 (SD=11.6) years for the reference cohort. The mean follow-up time was 7.1 years for the OA cohort and 6.6 years for the reference cohort. During follow-up, 24,493 and 28,843 deaths were identified in the OA and reference cohorts, respectively. Characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1 in Study II.

The relative educational inequality, measured by the RII, showed that the all-cause mortality rate was approximately 1.5 times higher in those with the lowest compared with those with the highest educational attainment.in both the OA (Table 2, Study II) and reference cohorts (Table 3, Study II) (OA cohort: RII 1.53, 95% CI: 1.46, 1.61; and reference cohort: RII 1.54, 95% CI: 1.47, 1.62). The absolute educational inequalities, measured by the SII, showed that there were 937 (95% CI: 811, 1063) more all-cause deaths per 100,000 person-years in the lowest vs. highest educated OA patients (Table 2, Study II). The corresponding figure was greater in the

reference cohort, where there were 1,265 (95% CI: 1109, 1421) more deaths per 100,000 person-years in favour of the highest-educated, (Table 3, Study II). Additionally, females and individuals aged 45-74 were found to have greater absolute educational inequalities in all-cause mortality in the reference cohort than in the OA cohort.

Higher mortality was observed in patients with lower education in both cohorts for all specific causes (even though the confidence interval included the null value of 1 for the cause *Mental and behavioural disorders & Diseases of the nervous system*). Across all subgroups in both cohorts, educational inequalities in favour of the more highly educated were generally seen. The magnitudes of relative inequalities were generally comparable between the OA and reference cohorts. Greater absolute educational inequalities for *Malignant neoplasm* (subjects aged  $\geq$ 45, females, and subjects aged 45-74 years) and Diseases of the respiratory system (subjects aged  $\geq$ 45 and subjects aged 45-74 years) were seen in the reference cohort in comparison to the OA cohort.

Subgroup analyses based on OA type showed that the relative and absolute educational inequalities in mortality were similar in subjects with knee and hip OA (Table 2, Study II)

Figure 6 shows the contribution, in percentage, of specific causes of death to the absolute educational inequality in all-cause mortality. Generally, *Diseases of the circulatory system* contributed the most, and *Mental and behavioural disorders & Diseases of the nervous system* contributed the least, to the absolute educational inequality in all-cause mortality in both the OA and reference cohorts. The only exception was in subjects aged 45-74 years in the reference cohort, where *Malignant neoplasm* contributed the most (37.1%) to the absolute educational inequality. While deaths from *Malignant neoplasm* tended to contribute more to the absolute educational inequality in mortality in the reference cohort, diseases of the circulatory system tended to have a higher contribution in the OA cohort compared to the reference cohort. Contrary to what was shown for cancer-related mortality, the contribution of cardiovascular death increased with age.



- Diseases of the circulatory system (100-199)
- Malignant neoplasms (C00-C97)
- Mental (F00-F99) & the nervous system (G00-G99) diseases
- Diseases of the respiratory system (J00-J99)
- Other causes

Figure 6. Contribution (%) of specific causes of death to the absolute educational inequality in all-cause mortality in the OA- and reference cohort.

## Association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery (study III)

In study III, a total of 67,071 twins (53.7 % females) were included after excluding 1,077 people with unknown educational attainment and 1,396 people with missing information about place of residence at age 18. The study sample consisted of 18,784 DZ and 8,657 MZ complete twin pairs, and 12,189 twins without a co-twin. The mean age at study entry was 41.7 (SD=8.7) and the mean follow-up was 22.6 years for both knee and hip OA surgery. During the follow-up, a total of 2,017 knee OA surgeries and 2,285 hip OA surgeries were identifies. Characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1 in Study III.

#### Knee OA surgery

The unmatched analysis of the total sample, generated by the Weibull regression model, showed a hazard ratio (HR) of 0.90 (95% CI: 0.86, 0.95) for knee OA surgery, indicating that for every three additional years of education the rate of knee OA surgery lowers by ~10%. When adjusting for familial confounding through twin design the results showed a HR of 1.05 (95% CI: 0.95, 1.16) suggesting potential familial confounding which is also supported by the "between-effect estimates". Comparing HRs from DZ and MZ twins suggested that the association between education and knee OA surgery is mainly confounded by genetic factors. The estimate for MZ twins was 1.06, with a 95% confidence interval of 0.81 to 1.32, suggesting no association between the individual's education and the risk of knee OA surgery. What concerns the between-pair estimates, the HR for the MZ twins was 0.71 (95% CI: 0.41, 1.01). The finding suggests that there exists familial confounding on the association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery (Figure 7). When individuals aged 65 years and older were included, the findings were similar (Supplementary material Study III, Figure A1).

The estimates indicated neither an association between educational attainment and OA surgery, nor a familial confounding on the association when treating education as a binary variable (Supplementary material Study III, Figure A2-A3). When education was treated as a binary variable rather than a continuous variable, estimates produced by the Cox and stratified Cox models suggested that education had a protective effect on the association (Supplementary material, Figure A5).

	No. of subjects	No. of events	6	HR (95% CI)
Knee OA surgery				
Weibull unmatched				
DZ and MZ twins	67 071	2 017	H	0.90 (0.86, 0.95)
				,,
Weibull, unmatched (on twins with a co-twin)				
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 699	H	0.91 (0.86, 0.96)
DZ twins	37 568	1 225	H=1	0.93 (0.88, 0.99)
MZ twins	17 314	474		0.85 (0.76, 0.94)
Weibull WB shared frailty model				
Within-pair				
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 699	⊦=-I	1.05 (0.95, 1.16)
DZ twins	37 568	1 225	⊢∎-I	0.91 (0.80, 1.03)
MZ twins	17 314	474	┝──┲──┤	1.06 (0.81, 1.32)
Between-pair	54.000	4 600		0.70 (0.05, 0.00)
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 699		0.78 (0.65, 0.90)
DZ twins MZ twins	37 366	1 225		1.02(0.00, 1.10) 0.71(0.41, 1.01)
	17 514	4/4		0.71 (0.41, 1.01)
Hip OA surgery				
Woibull upmatched				
DZ and MZ twins	67 071	2 285	Hel	1 00 (0 96 1 05)
	0/ 0/ 1	2 200		1.00 (0.00, 1.00)
Weibull, unmatched (on twins with a co-twin)				
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 919	H#1	0.99 (0.94, 1.04)
DZ twins	37 568	1 363	F#-1	0.98 (0.92, 1.09)
MZ twins	17 314	556	F =−1	1.04 (0.94, 1.14)
Weibull WB shared frailty model				
Within-pair				
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 919	⊢≖⊣	0.90 (0.80, 0.99)
DZ twins	37 568	1 363	⊢∎⊣	0.81 (0.70, 0.92)
MZ twins	17 314	556	┝──■┼──	0.92 (0.69, 1.14)
Between-pair				
DZ and MZ twins	54 882	1 919	<b>⊨</b> =-1	1.14 (1.02, 1.25)
U∠ twins	37 568	1 363		1.22 (1.09, 1.35)
	1/ 314	556		1.15 (0.67, 1.42)
			0.25 0.5 0.75 1 1.25 1.	5

Figure 7. The hazard ratios (HR) per 3 years of education with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for knee and hip OA surgery, for unmatched and matched dizygotic (DZ) and monozygotic (MZ) twins.

### Hip OA surgery

The unpaired analysis's HR for hip OA surgery for the total sample was 1.00 (95% CI: 0.96, 1.05). After accounting for matching, the estimate was 0.90 (95% CI: 0.80, 0.99) for total sample, and 0.81 (95% CI: 0.70, 0.92) and 0.92 (95% CI: 0.69, 1.14) among DZ and MZ twins, respectively. The between-pair estimate in MZ twin pairs (HR: 1.15, 95% CI: 0.87, 1.42) was inconclusive with respect to the size of confounding from familiar shared factors (Figure 7). Similar results were seen when people aged 65 years and older were included, when education as a binary variable was used, and when Cox and stratified Cox model were used (Supplementary material Study III, figure A1-A5).

### Adjustment for BMI and physical fitness

For males whom data on BMI and physical fitness was available (males born 1951-1980), the unadjusted within-twin estimate for knee OA surgery showed a HR of 0.36 (95% CI: 0.00, 1.98) in MZ twins (Figure 2, Study III). Although this estimate remained similar after adjusting for BMI, physical fitness, birth cohort, and residence at age 18, suggesting no relevant confounding from BMI and physical fitness, the CIs were broad, precluding us from drawing firm conclusions.

After adjusting for BMI and physical fitness, the within-twin estimates for hip OA surgery for MZ twins remained largely unchanged with point estimates between 1.54 and 1.64. (Figure 2, Study III).

## Changes in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits (study IV)

A total of 4,794,693 (51.4% females, mean (SD) age 55.8 (13.9)) and 5,359,186 (51.1% females, mean (SD) age 57.3 (14.4)) people were included for the years 2001 and 2011, respectively. In 2001, there were 5,628 knee OA and 7,895 hip OA surgeries. The corresponding numbers for 2011 were 11,477 and 12,442, respectively. What concerns non-surgery specialist care visits, in 2001 there were 17,360 visits with knee OA as the main diagnosis and 8,988 with hip OA. In 2011 the corresponding numbers were 33,184 and 13,688, respectively. Descriptive statistics of the study populations are presented in Table 1, Study IV.

### Changes in prevalence

Figure 8 presents changes in prevalence of the outcomes between 2001 and 2011. Compared to 2001, the prevalence of all outcomes was greater in 2011 (Table 2, Study IV). In 2011 compared to 2001, there were 97 (95% CI: 91.8, 101.8) more knee OA surgeries per 100,000 people. About 43.6% of this difference in prevalence was attributed to differences in the populations' characteristics, i.e. explained, while

approximately 56.4% of the difference was attributed to differences in the sociodemographic characteristics' coefficients and unmeasured factors, i.e., unexplained. Differences in age, parents' country of birth, parents' educational attainment, civil status and individual educational attainment contributed the most to the explained part.



Figure 8. Number of knee and hip OA surgeries and non-surgery specialist care visits per 100,000 people, with 95% confidence intervals, for each year from 2001 to 2011. The numbers reflect the number of people having at least one of the studied outcomes per year.

While differences in the three latter variables contributed to a decline in prevalence, differences in the three former variables contributed to an increase in prevalence. What concerns the unexplained part of the decomposition, age and educational attainment contributed to an increase in prevalence, whereas country of birth contributed to a decline in prevalence. Unmeasured factors also contributed considerably to the unexplained part. Regarding knee OA non-surgery visits, there were approximately 257 (95% CI: 248.6, 265.7) more visits per 100,000 people in 2011 in comparison to 2001. 27.1% of this difference could be explained by changes in the sociodemographic characteristics, where the following variables contributed the most: age, parents' country of birth, and father's educational attainment (Table 2, Study IV).

In 2011 compared to 2001, there were approximately 68 (95% CI: 62.0, 73.0) and 69 (95% CI: 62.2, 73.7) more hip OA surgeries and non-surgery visits per 100,000 people. Around 70.7% and 62.9% of the difference in hip OA surgery and non-surgery visits, respectively, were attributable to changes in the sociodemographic characteristics of the populations, while the remaining percentages were attributed to differences in the sociodemographic characteristics' coefficients and unmeasured factors. Age, parents' country of birth and father's educational attainment were the main determinants of the unexplained part for hip OA surgery and non-surgery OA visits. Of the previous mentioned variables, the latter contributed to a decrease in prevalence (Table 2, Study IV). Regarding the unexplained parts for the hip outcomes, following variables contributed considerably: age, educational attainment and country of birth, where the latter contributed to a decrease in prevalence. For the unexplained parts, unmeasured factors also had a major impact on how these outcomes changed over time.

### Changes in educational inequalities

For both knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery visits, the relative concentration indices were negative for all study years (values ranged from -0.28 in year 2001 to -0.11 in year 2011), showing that these outcomes were more concentrated among people with lower educational attainment (Figure 2, Study IV). In 2011 compared to 2001, the concentration indices for all outcomes were lower. Higher inequality was observed for OA surgery than for non-surgery visits for both knee and hip OA, with the difference being larger for the former than the latter (Figure 2, Study IV).

Table 3 in Study IV presents the sociodemographic factors' contributions to the changes in relative inequality between 2001 and 2011. The contributions of changes in the population characteristics (explained part) ranged from 15% (knee OA surgery) to 42% (hip OA non-surgery visits). Relative inequalities for all outcomes decreased when population age, civil status, and the proportion of people with a foreign background changed, while change in father's educational attainment contributed to increase in relative inequalities (Table 3 Study IV). Unmeasured factors contributed substantially to a decrease in relative inequalities, while changes

in the coefficients of sociodemographic parameters contributed primarily to an increase in relative inequalities. Age followed by mother's educational attainment, were the factors that contributed most to changes in relative inequalities over time among the sociodemographic characteristics.

The absolute educational inequalities in knee OA surgery and non-surgery visits increased from -33 (95% CI: -35, -31) and -53 (95% CI: -56, -50) per 100,000 people in 2001, respectively, to -44 (95% CI: -42, -46) and -67 (95% CI: -70, -63) in 2011. The absolute educational inequalities in the hip OA outcomes remained unchanged over time (Figure 3, Study IV).

### Discussion

In this thesis, socioeconomic inequalities in fracture-related mortality and OArelated outcomes have been investigated. The studies included have, in general, shown socioeconomic inequalities in the studied outcomes in favour of people with high versus low educational attainment. In addition, study III, which had a twin study design, casted some doubts on the causal relationship between education and health inequalities. In the sections below methodological considerations, interpretation and possible implications of the results, as well as the magnitude of observed inequalities will be discussed.

### Methodological considerations

This thesis is based on observational studies, and it is important to reflect on internal and external validity when interpreting the results. Internal validity is defined as the extent to which the presented results represent the true value being studied and this validity is affected by the methods used when collecting, analysing and interpreting the data. External validity, on the other hand, refers to the generalizability of the study (126)

Internal validity

### Educational attainment as an indicator of SES

Educational attainment was an indicator for SES in all studies. As stated in the introduction, we chose educational attainment as an indicator of SES since the variable is widely accepted as an indicator of SES in health inequality research (6). However, there are some aspects that need to be taken into consideration when using the variable (6).

Firstly, as stated in the introduction, there might exist a reverse causality between educational attainment and health and/or there might exist factors that influence both health and SES (i.e. *the health selection hypothesis* and *the indirect selection hypothesis*). For instance, it has been reported that prematurity/low-birth weight is associated with lower educational qualifications in adulthood (127) as well as hip, but not knee, arthroplasty due to OA (128). Thus, possible health-benefits from

education might be due to education per se or/and a difference in background health between different educational groups. We tried to take this into consideration in study III when adjusting for early-life physical fitness and BMI when examining the association between educational attainment and OA surgery.

All educational years are not created equal (129). When education is used as a continuous variable one assumes that every year of education contributes similarly to an individual's attained SES. This is problematic, since then it is assumed that a year of education at different ages/countries/educational institutions and eras are comparable, which they probably are not (6, 129). In study III and IV educational attainment was used as a continuous variable, however, in study III we did also present results when educational attainment was treated as a categorical variable.

Moreover, when using educational attainment as years of education or levels of attainment, the variable does not provide any information regarding the quality of the education or school (6). Furthermore, measure of formal education does not take informal education into consideration, which also may be of importance in a broader perspective (6).

Another important consideration when using educational attainment as an indicator of SES is that individual life chances and social opportunities are captured by educational attainment (130). Thus, educational attainment does not only reflect schooling. For instance, it has been reported that parents' educational attainment and choices are associated with their child's educational attainment (131, 132). In addition, it has been reported that parental circumstances affect child health (133). Based on this, it is possible that there exists parental confounding when studying educational health inequalities. However, in study III we tried to eliminate that possible confounder by using twin study design.

As stated in the introduction, the Swedish educational system has changed over the years. Because of this, one can hypothesize that the meaning of educational levels differs between birth cohorts. We tried to take this into consideration by adjusting for birth cohort in study III. Additionally, in study I and II three and two age groups were used, respectively.

Sex differences in educational attainment may be another important factor when studying educational inequalities in health (6). As stated in the introduction, in Sweden it is primarily among females the level of education has increased during the past decades (13) and this phenomenon has also been observed in many other high-income countries (134). Moreover, it has been suggested, by the so-called *resource substitution theory*<sup>1</sup>, that females' health may be impacted by educational level more than men's health (135). Thus, it may be important to take sex into consideration when studying heath inequalities. In study I-III we took sex into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to the *resource substitution theory*, education increases well-being more for females since their socioeconomic disadvantage causes them to rely more on it to obtain well-being.

consideration by treating sex as a confounder. Moreover, we also conducted stratified analyses by sex in study I and II.

### Validity of data used

The registers used to retrieve the data are considered to be reliable with a high coverage (90-92), however one cannot exclude that there might exist measurement errors in the variables used. There is a possibility for measurement errors in the education variable since self-reported data is being used in some cases. For instance, self-reported data on highest educational attainment is obtained from foreign-born people moving to Sweden (136).

What concerns assessment of mortality and underlying/contributing causes of death, the mortality data is based on information retrieved from death certificates, which in turn are coded by the responsible physicians and thus may be prone to bias. This might also apply to diagnosis codes in the SHR and the National Patient Register. Although the Cause of Death Register is considered to be a high quality register (90), problem with inaccurate mortality data in the register has been reported (137). Additionally, our findings may be biased if there are educational differences in the reporting of death causes and diagnoses (e.g., differences in OA diagnosis based on the patient's level of education due to health care avoidance in low educated or cognitive bias in physicians). What concerns study I, a study performed in the late 80s in the United Kingdom reported that fractures often are underreported on death certificates (138), and if this finding also applies to our data there might be a misrepresentation in the data.

As with the other registers used, the reliability of the National Patient Register is considered to be good and reflect the data available in the regional patient administrative systems (91). However, problems with data reporting to the register, mainly by private healthcare providers, have been reported (91).

### Missing data

What concerns missing data, in study I, a relatively large proportion of fracturerelated deaths (n = 987) occurred in subjects who were left out of the analysis because information about their educational attainment was absent. In comparison to the study population, the excluded group had a higher percentage of non-Nordic born individuals, which may have limited the generalizability of the results. In study II, 4,195 and 2,671 people were excluded from the OA-cohort and reference-cohort respectively. The percentage of people that were non-native (i.e. born abroad, or born in Sweden with both parents born abroad) were higher in the excluded group, which might also have affected the results.

### Confounding

Study I-III are prone to unmeasured confounding. What concerns study I, there might exist other potential confounders that we have not adjusted for (such as parental characteristics and early-life environment etc.). Additionally, in study I, we considered non-hip fractures as one group, even though different fractures exhibit different characteristics concerning mortality and prevalence in age groups etc. This approach is a limitation since the studied association may be confounded by different confounders depending on fracture site. Regarding study II, as for study I, there might exist other potential confounders that we have not adjusted for (such as parental characteristics and early-life environment etc.). In study III we took parental characteristics and early-life environment into consideration when using twin data. However, we did not adjust for typical individual confounders like knee injuries etc., which is a limitation of the study.

### Methodology

In study II, all-cause and cause-specific mortality was investigated by using the single-cause of death method. Since deaths most likely are caused by more than one disease (85), especially among the elderly, it is possible that useful information is lost when only taking the UCD into consideration. This is a limitation of the study. Initially, we tried to estimate RII by the so-called multiple causes of death approach using methodology developed by Moreno-Betancur et al. (139). However, the method was not feasible considering the large data set.

### External validity

Study I and II were based on data concerning the region of Skåne. Since the investigated region's population has several traits in common with Sweden overall, including age, sex, migration patterns, employment, and the distribution of residents between urban and rural areas (140), it is likely that the findings of study I and II may be applied to the entire nation.

In study III, twin data from the STR was used and since twins are not a random sample of population one could speculate whether the findings are generalizable to the whole population of Sweden. In addition, it is voluntarily to participate in the STR which in turn introduces recruitment bias. If the included twins systematically differ (regarding relevant factors) from twins who reject to be a part of the STR then the study findings are biased and not generalizable. Furthermore, even though the methodology with co-twin control design has major strengths, there might be a problem regarding selection. Discordant twins are of interest when conducting a co-twin control study and one could hypothesize that exposure discordant twins may be a selected group, and not a representative sample for the general population.

Are the findings of the thesis applicable to other countries? In Sweden, the majority of healthcare expenditures are covered by the government, thus the system facilitates equal access to healthcare services. It may be difficult to apply the findings to other countries than Sweden due to that educational- and health care systems differs between countries. However, the results may be generalizable to populations living with similar educational- and healthcare systems as the one in Sweden.

## Comparison to previous studies & interpretation and implications of findings

Educational inequalities in fracture-related mortality

Generally, fracture-related mortality was greater in low vs high educated people. The relative educational inequality was more pronounced in younger people, while the absolute educational inequality rose with age. Furthermore, there were educational inequalities in non-hip fracture-related mortality among people aged 30-69 years but not older.

No previous study had assessed the association between educational attainment and fracture-related mortality in the general population. However, the overall findings of this study are in line with research that have found an inverse association between educational attainment and post-hip-fracture mortality (48, 49), but in contrast with research that has found no association between education and post-hip fracture mortality (51). The study's results are also consistent with other studies that have used other indicators of SES (individual- or area-level based) than education and found an inverse association between SES and post-hip-fracture mortality (45, 141-143).

The findings are probably a result of many factors combined. The incidence of fractures might differ between educational groups. If the fracture incidence is higher among people with lower educational attainment, this group may have an increased risk of dying from fracture. For instance, people with high educational attainment are less likely to smoke and be physically inactive (20), which are factors associated with a higher risk of fracture (144, 145). It has also been reported that people with low educational attainment also have a higher risk of falls, assaults and traffic accidents (146), which can lead to fracture-related injuries. However, the evidence on the association between educational level and hip fracture incidence is inconsistent (41-44, 50). Besides possible educational differences in fracture due to, for instance, differences in background health and post-fracture care. People

with lower educational attainment, generally, have poorer health status compared to people with high educational attainment (20) and the presence of comorbidities is a risk factor for post-hip fracture mortality (147, 148). Previous research has reported disparities in post-fracture care, where people with low SES receive a lower volume of care and longer time to surgery (45-47). Whether these kinds of disparities also exist in the region of Skåne is unknown.

The observed association between educational attainment and fracture-related mortality needs to be examined in more depth in order to be able to reduce the seen inequalities. However, the overall findings of the study suggest that one should target fracture prevention and treatment of people with low educational attainment.

## Educational inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality in OA patients

Higher all-cause and cause-specific mortality were seen in people with low education compared to those with high education, and this was seen among OA patients as well as references free of OA. The contribution of cardiovascular mortality to the absolute inequalities was greater in the OA cohort in comparison to the reference cohort. This finding reflects the greater burden of cardiovascular diseases in the OA cohort, especially in people with low educational attainment.

The relative inequalities in mortality were similar between the OA- and reference cohort, while the absolute inequalities were greater in the reference cohort. The latter finding may be due to a greater overall mortality in the reference cohort (23.8%) in comparison to the OA cohort (19.8%). This result is in line with some previous research that have reported lower mortality in OA patients in comparison to the general population (70, 71). The lower mortality has been suggested to be due to that OA patients that seek care for their joint pain may differ from OA patients that do not seek care regarding, for example, their general health (70, 71). Another theory is that OA patients who seek treatment receive treatment for both their OA and underlying health conditions (70, 71), which promotes their overall health. Since the educational disparities were present in both the OA- and reference cohort, the findings imply that the disparities present in the OA cohort reflect the disparities present in the general population. Consequently, health inequalities should primarily be addressed in the general population in order to even out observed inequalities among people with and without OA.

As described in the introduction of this thesis, socioeconomic health inequalities most likely arise due to many factors combined and the findings of this study are probably no exception to this. Possible theories and explanations include *the health* selection hypothesis, the indirect selection hypothesis, explanations that points to differences in *material* and *psychosocial* factors, *behavioural* differences and differences in *biomedical* factors (3).

The finding of greater contribution of cardiovascular mortality to the absolute inequalities in the OA cohort is consistent with previous research that have reported an association between increased cardiovascular mortality and OA (64, 66, 68, 72). It is possible to take preventative action in this specific group of patients by drawing attention to the observed inequality. For instance, one could try to reduce cardiovascular mortality in OA patients by implementing this finding in standardised OA management programs such as BOA through screening and initiation of treatment of cardiovascular risk factors.

Cancer-related mortality contributed more to the absolute inequality in the reference cohort in comparison with the OA cohort. There were minor differences between the cohorts regarding the distribution of cancer types causing deaths and this is one possible explanation for the finding, since there has been reported variations in the associations between different cancer types and SES (149). Another possibility is that the estimates in the reference cohort reflect the ongoing shift in leading cause of death from cardiovascular- to cancer-related deaths, which has been observed in high-income countries like Sweden (150). This shift has been suggested to be due to better treatment and prevention of cardiovascular diseases in high income countries and thus a reduction in cardiovascular mortality (150). If this is the cause for the higher contribution of cancer-related mortality in the reference cohort, it also highlights the importance of treatment of cardiovascular diseases in OA patients.

### Association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery

There was no conclusive association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery when taking genetics and early-life environment into account. On the other hand, the findings of the study suggest that the inverse association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery often reported in observational studies may be due to confounding of shared familial factors. Regarding hip OA surgery, our findings suggest no conclusive association between educational attainment and the outcome. Furthermore, our findings suggest no substantial familial confounding on the association.

Higher educational attainment has, in previous research, been reported to have a protective effect on OA outcomes (73-80, 151) and results supporting this was also seen in the study's unmatched cohort analyses for knee OA surgery. This association was, however, weakened when examining the within-pair effect on knee OA surgery in MZ twins, indicating that the estimates from the unmatched cohort analyses are confounded by familial factors such as genetics and/or early-life environment. This finding highlights the importance of taking familial factors into consideration when studying the impact of education on OA, and this may apply to other diseases as well. The finding of a familial effect on the association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery is consistent with the so-called *life course theory* 

described in the introduction of this thesis. *The life course theory* acknowledges that health in adulthood is influenced by early-life health and conditions (3, 152). What concerns the study's finding regarding familial confounding, one might speculate that, for instance, parental characteristics such as parental education most likely influence their child's health and perhaps in more specific the risk of OA surgery. Since parents' educational attainment is associated with their child's educational attainment (131), it might be possible that parental education is a confounder of the familial effect found in the study. Moreover, obesity is an important risk factor for knee OA (153-155), and it has been reported that parents' educational attainment is inversely associated with their child being overweight (156).

In the study we tried to take early-life health status in consideration by adjusting for BMI and physical fitness. The estimates from these analyses had very broad CIs, making it difficult to draw any firm conclusions. However, the estimates remained similar after adjusting for BMI and physical fitness, suggesting that these factors had little impact on the estimates.

That a family effect of educational attainment on knee OA surgery, and not hip OA surgery, was found in the study might reflect the fact that environmental factors seem to have a greater impact on the progression of knee OA in comparison to hip OA (59, 60, 157). As an example, it is known that genetics contribute more to hip than knee OA (58-60).

Since our results suggest no association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery when using co-twin control design, interventions on education are unlikely to change the rates of OA surgery. Thus, OA prevention attempts should focus on other modifiable factors.

Changes in knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits

The prevalence of all outcomes increased over time and this finding is consistent with previous research that have projected an increasing burden of OA (54, 158, 159). Changes in the strengths of the associations between sociodemographic characteristics contributed in large to the increased prevalence in knee OA outcomes. In contrast, the increased prevalence in hip OA outcomes were in large attributed to changes in the characteristics of the populations.

For all outcomes, age contributed the most to the unexplained part of the decomposition analysis, and our results suggest a weaker positive association between age and the studied outcomes in 2011 than in 2001. This finding is in line with previous research that have reported an increase in knee OA surgery in younger patients (<55 years) in Sweden from the late 90s to the time near 2010, and thus depicted that OA surgery is not limited to the older population (160).

The increase in prevalence of the hip OA outcomes, were in large attributed to an older population and higher proportion of Sweden-born parents in 2011 in comparison to 2001. Since age is an important risk factor for OA (55), the result concerning age is not surprising. However, it is unknown why the increase in prevalence is related to higher proportion of Sweden-born parents, but one could speculate that the finding reflects ethnical differences in hip OA outcomes, which previous research has suggested (161).

All outcomes were more concentrated among people with lower education in comparison with higher education. Thus, the higher burden of non-surgery specialist visits among people with lower education was also met with higher prevalence of OA surgery. The relative inequalities decreased during the study period for all outcomes. However, the absolute inequalities in knee OA outcomes increased, while the absolute inequalities in hip OA outcomes remained stable. This finding might suggest that the access to specialist care among people with lower education decreased during the studied time period. It is unknown if this potential decrease in access to specialist care is medically motivated, for example, as a result of improved management of OA at primary care in this group.

The finding of higher concentration of all outcomes in people with lower education is consistent with previous research that have found an inverse association between educational attainment and rate of knee OA surgery (80), and prevalence/symptoms of OA (73-79, 151). The result is most likely due to many factors combined. For instance, people with lower education may more often have physically demanding occupation, which has been suggested as a risk factor for knee and hip OA (162-164). The severity of OA might also vary between educational groups (77-79), which may affect the health care seeking behaviour. Moreover, given/accepted treatment might also differ between educational groups. For instance, it has been reported that people who participate in BOA, generally, have higher educational attainment (165). Additionally, it should be highlighted that the inequalities seen might be due to selection (see *the health selection hypothesis, the indirect selection hypothesis* described in introduction).

When decomposing the changes in educational inequalities a substantial part of the observed decrease between 2001 and 2011 were due to unmeasured factors. This finding suggests that there exist essential factors that we have not taken into consideration in our analyses.

The magnitude of observed inequalities

In study I, II and IV relative as well as absolute inequalities were examined, while only the former were examined in study III.

When reflecting on the importance of the findings of study I, the following questions are of interest: how large is the burden of fracture-related mortality? And, how do

you interpret the magnitude of the found inequality? What concerns the burden of fracture-related mortality, 2.9% and 1.8% of all deaths in the study population during 1998-2013 were associated with non-hip fracture and hip fracture, respectively. Thus, fracture-mortality is not a great contributor to mortality compared to, for instance, cardiovascular mortality, which is the leading cause of death. As an example, cardiovascular mortality was the underlying cause of death in around 41% of all deaths in the Skåne region between 1998-2014 among people aged >30 years (166). However, as previously stated, fractures may be underreported on death certificates. Regarding the magnitude of inequality, no previous study has to our knowledge examined the association between SES and fractures as a cause of death, making it difficult to draw any conclusions about whether the inequalities seen are considered large or not in the context of fracture mortality. Study II, which examined educational inequalities in all-cause and causespecific mortality, investigated the same geographical area during the same time period as study I and can be used to put the results of study I into perspective. However, when comparing the results, it is important to be aware that the reference cohort of study II was matched on age and sex against the OA cohort, making it a non-representative sample of the general population (for instance, the sample contained a higher proportion of females). In addition, the confounder considering country of birth was defined differently in the two studies. The SII (per 100,000 person-years) and RII in all-cause mortality were 543 (95% CI: 433, 653) and 1.34 (95% CI: 1.27, 1.41), respectively, among people aged  $\geq$ 75 years in the reference cohort. In comparison, the SII (per 100,000 person-years) and RII in hip-fracture mortality, in study I was 110.0 (95% CI: 25.5, 194.5) and 1.3 (95% CI: 1.1, 1.6), respectively, among people aged >85 years.

Since SII and RII are well-established measures of inequality (116), there are numerous studies that have examined all-cause and cause-specific mortality using these indices (167-170). However, what concerns the magnitude of the inequalities observed in study II, it is difficult to compare the results with non-Swedish studies considering different countries have different educational- and heath care systems. The same reasoning, but concerning the concentration index, applies to the findings of study IV.

## Conclusions

In this thesis I have studied socioeconomic inequalities in fracture-related mortality and OA-related outcomes via observational studies using individual-level register data analysed by different epidemiological methods. The overall conclusion of the thesis is that there exist socioeconomic inequalities in fracture-related mortality and OA-related outcomes in favour of people with higher SES. In addition, the studies have led to the following conclusions in specific:

- Findings suggest an inverse association between level of education and fracture-related mortality, which in turn suggests that preventative and therapeutic interventions for fractures should pay special attention to people with low educational attainment.
- People with lower education, with or without OA, have higher all-cause and cause-specific mortality compared to people with higher educational attainment. The educational inequalities in mortality in OA patients reflect the health inequalities in the population at large. Therefore, in order to eliminate the observed differences between people from various educational backgrounds, both with and without OA, these inequalities should first be addressed in the general population.
- Results suggest that OA patients, especially with lower education, have a greater burden of cardiovascular diseases. This implies that it is important to focus on prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases in OA patients.
- When adjusting for genetics and early-life environment, there seems to be no association between educational attainment and knee and hip OA surgery. However, there seems to be a confounding familial effect on the association between educational attainment and knee OA surgery but not hip OA surgery. Thus, the results suggest that the often reported association between education and knee OA surgery is due to familial confounding and that interventions on education are unlikely to change the rates of OA surgery. Consequently, OA prevention attempts should focus on other modifiable factors.

• In Sweden, the prevalence of knee and hip OA surgery and non-surgery specialist care visits increased from 2001 to 2011. Changes in the strength of the association between sociodemographic factors and OA outcomes contributed the most to the increase in prevalence of knee OA outcomes. For hip OA outcomes, the increase was, on the other hand, primarily due to changes in age and parents' country of birth over time. What concerns inequalities, all outcomes were more concentrated among people with lower education. Furthermore, absolute educational inequalities were either decreasing or steady over time, while there was a declining tendency in relative inequalities for all outcomes.

### Future perspectives

Finally, this research has given rise to many questions in need of further investigation. What concerns fracture-related mortality, future studies should examine the found inverse association between educational attainment and fracture-related mortality in more depth. As a suggestion, the fracture incidence by level of education in the Skåne region during the studied time period should be examined in addition to time to surgery for hip fracture patients.

Regarding socioeconomic inequalities in all-cause and cause-specific mortality among OA patients, one should preferably investigate the examined association using a multiple cause of death approach. This would possibly capture a more accurate picture of mortality and its associations.

In study III we did not account for typical individual-level confounders such as previous injuries etc., which most likely are important when studying the association between educational attainment and OA surgery. Thus, it would be interesting to take this in considerations into future studies.

Concerning the study of changes in knee and hip OA outcomes, future studies should include additional characteristics to the decomposition analyses (for instance physical activity level, body mass index, disease severity, and health status etc.). This is because only a small portion of the change in prevalence of knee OA outcomes and in educational inequalities of the outcomes could be explained by the characteristics included in the study. In addition, it would also be interesting to include data from the primary care, in order to give a more comprehensive view on the changes of OA over time in Sweden.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

Muskuloskeletala sjukdomar, dvs rörelseorganens sjukdomar, orsakar stort lidande för många människor i Sverige och globalt sett. Två viktiga muskuloskeletala sjukdomar är benbrott, även kallat frakturer, och artros. Frakturer är vanligt förekommande och bidrar med stora samhällskostnader förutom att orsaka personligt lidande och till och med, i vissa fall, död. Exempelvis avlider ca 30% av de individer som drabbats av höftfraktur inom ett år efter frakturtillfället. Artros är den vanligaste förekommande ledsjukdomen och kännetecknas av nedbrytning i ledbrosket och förändringar i ledrelaterade strukturer, vilket i sin tur leder till ledsvikt. Liksom för frakturer bidrar artros till stora samhällskostnader och lidande. Enligt hälso- och sjukvårdslagen (2017:30) är målet för hälso- och sjukvården en god hälsa och en vård på lika villkor för hela befolkningen. Emellertid finns det ett välkänt samband mellan socioekonomisk status (SES) och hälsa, där personer med lägre SES tenderar att, generellt sett, ha sämre hälsa och ökad dödlighet jämförelsevis med personer med högre SES. Detta fenomen är globalt och benämns som den sociala gradienten i hälsa. Den sociala gradienten i hälsa har observerats gällande dödlighet såväl som för ett brett spektrum av sjukdomar, inklusive muskuloskeletala sjukdomar. Emellertid är socioekonomiska ojämlikheter i muskuloskeletala sjukdomar inte ett välstuderat område.

Det övergripande målet med detta avhandlingsarbete var att undersöka sambandet mellan SES och utfall relaterade till frakturer och artros, i syfte att identifiera möjliga ojämlikheter i hälsa.

Avhandlingen består av fyra så kallade observationsstudier som i sin tur är baserade på registerdata på individnivå från personer bosatta i Skåneregionen (studie I och II) och hela Sverige (studie III och IV). För alla studier användes utbildningsnivå som en indikator för SES. Följande datakällor användes i avhandlingen: Statistiska totalbefolkningen centralbyrån (Registret över och Longitudinell integrationsdatabas för sjukförsäkringsoch arbetsmarknadsstudier), Socialstyrelsen (Dödsorsaksregistret och Patientregistret), Skånes Häsloregister, Svenska Tvillingregistret och Mönstringsregistret. Olika statistiska mått och metoder användes för att beskriva samband och analysera datan, däribland slope index of inequality (SII), relative index of inequality (RII), Weibull within-between shared frailty model, koncentrationsindex och Blinder-Oaxaca dekomponering.

I den första studien, som totalt inkluderade 999 148 individer, undersöktes utbildningsskillnader i frakturrelaterad dödlighet för icke-höftfrakturer respektive höftfrakturer. Studien var en så kallad öppen kohortstudie där personer i ådern 30-99 år bosatta i Skåne under 1998-2013 följdes fram till något av följande scenarier: död, deras 100-årsdag, flytt utanför Skåne eller slutet av 2014. Resultaten kunde visa att den frakturrelaterade dödligheten var högre hos lågutbildade jämfört med högutbildade. Resultatet i sig antyder att man framförallt bör fokusera på frakturförebyggande och behandlade insatser hos personer med låg utbildningsnivå. Emellertid bör det studerade sambandet studeras i mer detalj för att man på sikt ska kunna jämna ut den observerade ojämlikheten.

I den andra studien undersöktes och jämfördes utbildningsskillnader i dödlighet hos artrospatienter med utbildningsskillnader i dödlighet hos artrosfria personer. All typ av dödlighet samt dödlighet i de fem vanligaste förekommande dödsorsakerna undersöktes. Liksom studie I var detta en öppen kohortstudie och alla personer i åldern 45 år eller äldre med läkardiagnostiserad artros bosatta i Skåne mellan åren 1998 och 2013 följdes fram till något av följande scenarier: död, flytt utanför Skåne eller slutet av 2014. Totalt inkluderades 123 993 och 121 318 med respektive utan artros. Studien visade att personer med lägre utbildning, med eller utan artros, har högre dödlighet jämfört med personer med högre utbildning och att de observerade ojämlikheterna hos artrospatienter speglar ojämlikheterna i befolkningen i stort. Vidare antydde studiens resultat en högre börda av hjärt-kärlsjukdomar hos artrospatienter, jämfört med hos artrosfria personer, och att det således är viktigt att fokusera på prevention och behandling av hjärt-kärlsjukdom i denna grupp.

I den tredje studien undersöktes sambandet mellan utbildningsnivå och kirurgisk behandling av knä- respektive höftledsartros genom att analysera tvillingdata. Som föregående studier var även detta en öppen kohortstudie och alla tvillingar i det Svenska Tvillingregistret i åldern 35-64 år följdes från 1:a januari 1987 eller datumet de fyllde 35 år till något av följande scenarier: död, flytt utanför Sverige eller slutet av 2016. Totalt inkluderades 67 071 tvillingar (18 784 kompletta tvåäggstvillingspar och 8 657 kompletta enäggstvillingar). Sambandet mellan utbildningsnivå och kirurgi undersöktes i olika modeller där man bland annat tog hänsyn till faktorer som tvillingar i ett tvillingpar delar så som genetik (i varierande grad beroende på två- eller enäggstvillingar) samt tidig livsmiljö. Då man justerade för genetik och tidig livsmiljö kunde man ej påvisa något samband mellan utbildningsnivå och artroskirurgi varken vad gäller knä eller höftledsartros, och följaktligen bör artrosförebyggande arbete fokusera på andra modifierbara faktorer än utbildningsnivå. Vidare antydde studiens resultat att det finns en familjeeffekt på sambandet mellan utbildningsnivå och artroskirurgi rörande knäledsartros, dvs att familjefaktorer så som exempelvis föräldrars SES eller liknande påverkar sambandet.

I den fjärde, och sista, studien undersöktes förändringar av befintliga fall, så kallad prevalens, och utbildningsskillnader i artroskirurgi och icke-kirurgiska

specialistbesök rörande knä- och höftledsartros i Sverige. Dessutom undersöktes i vilken utsträckning sociodemografiska faktorer kunde förklara förändringarna. Den undersökta tidsperioden var mellan åren 2001 och 2011 och alla individer i åldern 35 år och äldre bosatta i Sverige under perioden inkluderades. Prevalens och socioekonomisk skillnad i utfallen beräknades för varje år. Vad gäller undersökning av sociodemografiska faktorers betydelse, jämfördes endast år 2001 med 2011 och dessa två studiepopulationer bestod av 4 794 693 respektive 5 359 186 individer. Resultaten av studien visade att prevalensen för alla utfallen ökade från 2001 till 2011 och att förändringar i styrkan av sambandet mellan sociodemografiska faktorer och utfall bidrog mest till ökningen av prevalensen gällande knäledsartros. För prevalensökningen höftledsartros berodde istället på förändringar i studiepopulationens karakteristika i form av förändringar i ålder och föräldrars födelseland. Vad gäller utbildningsskillnader kunde studien visa att alla utfall var överrepresenterade hos personer med lägre utbildning under hela studieperioden. Vidare visade resultaten att de absoluta utbildningsskillnaderna ökade alternativt var stabila under tidens gång medan de relativa utbildningsskillnaderna minskade.

Avhandlingens övergripande slutsats är att det finns socioekonomiska ojämlikheter i frakturrelaterad dödlighet och artrosrelaterade utfall i förmån för personer med högre SES. Sambanden och underliggande mekanismer måste undersökas i mer detalj för att man ska kunna vidta åtgärder för att minska de observerade skillnaderna. Emellertid, kan man se denna forskning som ett första steg mot att minska ojämlikheter eftersom det är nödvändigt att först identifiera och kartlägga skillnader.

## Acknowledgments

This thesis would not have been completed without the support of many great people that I have had the joy of working with and learning from.

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Associate Professor Ali Kiadaliri. Thank you for inspiring me to start my PhD studies and thank you for the patience, encouragement and guidance that you have provided throughout my studies. Your knowledge in combination with your pedagogical skills have been a great resource to me.

Neither could I have undertaken this journey without the support from my cosupervisors Associate Professor Aleksandra Turkiewicz and Professor Martin Englund. Aleksandra, thank you for being an inspiration with your enthusiastic way of sharing your expertise and for being a kind and generous supervisor. Martin, thank you for your encouragement, great advices and letting me be a part of your research group.

I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to my co-authors who have shared their knowledge with me. Thank you for your insightful comments and suggestions, for improving my research and broaden my perspectives.

Special thanks to my co-workers at the Clinical Epidemiology Unit. Thank you for constructive feedback, fruitful discussions, kindness, helpfulness and for making the office a welcoming place.

I am also thankful to the Centre for Economic Demography at Lund University for letting me be an affiliate, which in turn enabled me and my co-authors to conduct study IV in the thesis.

Moreover, I would like to thank following funders: Region Skåne, the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Greta and Johan Kocks Foundation, Crafoord Foundation, the Swedish Rheumatism Association, the Swedish Research Council, Österlund Foundation, and Governmental Funding of Clinical Research within the National Health Service (ALF).

There are some people who are always there. I am lucky to have my mother Anita, my father Per-Åke and my siblings Gustav, Anna and Karin. Thank you for your never ending love and support as well as always being there for me! I love you.

I would also like to thank my other close relatives and friends.

For the loved ones who have passed away, I miss you and I know you are proud.

### References

1. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Ojämna villkor för hälsa och vård. Jämlikhetsperspektiv på hälso- och sjukvården. 2011.

2. Evans T, Whitehead M, Diderichsen F, Bhuiya A, Wirth M. 2. Introduction. In: Evans T, Whitehead M, Diderichsen F, Bhuiya A, Wirth M, editors. Challenging Inequities in Health: From Ethics to Action: Oxford University Press; 2001. p. 0.

3. Arcaya MC, Arcaya AL, Subramanian SV. Inequalities in health: definitions, concepts, and theories. Glob Health Action. 2015;8:27106-.

4. Evans T. Challenging inequities in health. from ethics to action: Oxford University Press; 2001.

5. socioeconomic status Oxford Reference [cited 2022 21st of Available from:

https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/oi/authority.20110803100515750.

6. Khalatbari-Soltani S, Maccora J, Blyth FM, Joannès C, Kelly-Irving M. Measuring education in the context of health inequalities. International journal of epidemiology. 2022;51(3):701-8.

7. Autor DH. Skills, education, and the rise of earnings inequality among the "other 99 percent". Science. 2014;344(6186):843-51.

8. Dahlgren G, Whitehead M. The Dahlgren-Whitehead model of health determinants: 30 years on and still chasing rainbows. Public Health. 2021;199:20-4.

9. Nationalencyklopedin. grundskola [cited 2022 23rd of November]. Available from: <u>http://www.ne.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/l</u>ång/grundskola.

10.Nationalencyklopedin.gymnasieskola[cited 2022 23rd ofNovember].Availablefrom:

http://www.ne.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/gymnasieskola.

11. The Swedish National Agency for Education. Avgifter i skolan. 2020 [cited 2022 31st of December]. Available from: <u>https://www.skolverket.se/for-dig-som-.../elev-eller-foralder/skolans-organisation/avgifter-i-skolan</u>.

12. The European Commission. 7. Higher education. 2022 [cited 2022 31st of December]. Available from: <u>https://eurydice.eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-education-systems/sweden/higher-education</u>.

13. Statistics Sweden. Theme: Education. Distribution of sexes by education and profession 1990–2030. 2010.

14. Statistics Sweden. Educational attainment of the population 2014.2015.
15. Statistics Sweden. Educational background 2017 among foreign born persons. 2018.

16. Foverskov E, Holm A. Socioeconomic inequality in health in the British household panel: Tests of the social causation, health selection and the indirect selection hypothesis using dynamic fixed effects panel models. Social Science & Medicine. 2016;150:172-83.

17. Skalická V, van Lenthe F, Bambra C, Krokstad S, Mackenbach J. Material, psychosocial, behavioural and biomedical factors in the explanation of relative socio-economic inequalities in mortality: evidence from the HUNT study. International journal of epidemiology. 2009;38(5):1272-84.

18. Tarkiainen L, Martikainen P, Laaksonen M, Valkonen T. Trends in life expectancy by income from 1988 to 2007: decomposition by age and cause of death. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2012;66(7):573.

19. 6. Social organization, stress, and health. In: Marmot M, Wilkinson R, editors. Social Determinants of Health: Oxford University Press; 2005. p. 0.

20. The Public Health Agency of Sweden. Uppdrag att analysera utvecklingen av utbildningsnivåerna i befolkningen ur ett folkhälso- respektive hälso- och sjukvårdsperspektiv. 2015.

21. Sverige. Kommissionen för jämlik hälsa. Det handlar om jämlik hälsa : utgångspunkter för kommissionens vidare arbete : delbetänkande. Stockholm: Wolters Kluwer; 2016.

22. Adler N, Stewart J, Cohen S, Cullen M, Roux A, Dow W. Reaching for a healthier life: facts on socioeconomic status and health in the US. MacArthur Foundation Research Network on Socioeconomic Status and Health; 2002.

23. Cieza A, Causey K, Kamenov K, Hanson SW, Chatterji S, Vos T. Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet (London, England). 2021;396(10267):2006-17.

24. Möller M, Wolf O, Bergdahl C, Mukka S, Rydberg EM, Hailer NP, et al. The Swedish Fracture Register – ten years of experience and 600,000 fractures collected in a National Quality Register. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022;23(1):141.

25. Bliuc D, Nguyen ND, Milch VE, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA, Center JR. Mortality risk associated with low-trauma osteoporotic fracture and subsequent fracture in men and women. Jama. 2009;301(5):513-21.

26. Center JR, Nguyen TV, Schneider D, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA. Mortality after all major types of osteoporotic fracture in men and women: an observational study. Lancet (London, England). 1999;353(9156):878-82.

27. Johnell O, Kanis JA. An estimate of the worldwide prevalence, mortality and disability associated with hip fracture. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2004;15(11):897-902.

28. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic basis of disease. 8. ed. ed. Philadelphia, Pa.: Saunders.

29. Pisani P, Renna MD, Conversano F, Casciaro E, Di Paola M, Quarta E, et al. Major osteoporotic fragility fractures: Risk factor updates and societal impact. World journal of orthopedics. 2016;7(3):171-81.

30. Kanis JA, Cooper C, Rizzoli R, Reginster JY. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2019;30(1):3-44.

31. Pouresmaeili F, Kamalidehghan B, Kamarehei M, Goh YM. A comprehensive overview on osteoporosis and its risk factors. Therapeutics and clinical risk management. 2018;14:2029-49.

32. Bergh C, Wennergren D, Möller M, Brisby H. Fracture incidence in adults in relation to age and gender: A study of 27,169 fractures in the Swedish Fracture Register in a well-defined catchment area. PloS one. 2020;15(12):e0244291.

33. Annual Report 2021. The Swedish Fracture Register; 2022.

34. Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions. National Quality Registry for Hip Fracture (RIKSHÖFT) 2021 [Available from: https://skr.se/en/kvalitetsregister/hittaregister/registerarkiv/hoftfraktur.44212.html #:~:text=In%20Sweden%2C%20more%20than%2016,billion%20every%20year%20in%20Sweden.

35. Civinini R, Paoli T, Cianferotti L, Cartei A, Boccaccini A, Peris A, et al. Functional outcomes and mortality in geriatric and fragility hip fractures—results of an integrated, multidisciplinary model experienced by the "Florence hip fracture unit". International Orthopaedics. 2019;43(1):187-92.

36. M. M, G. CG, S. Ĉ, P. R, E. A, M. G, et al. The determinants of mortality and morbidity during the year following fracture of the hip. The Bone & Joint Journal. 2015;97-B(3):383-90.

37. Lee TC, Ho PS, Lin HT, Ho ML, Huang HT, Chang JK. One-Year Readmission Risk and Mortality after Hip Fracture Surgery: A National Population-Based Study in Taiwan. Aging and disease. 2017;8(4):402-9.

38. Guzon-Illescas O, Perez Fernandez E, Crespí Villarias N, Quirós Donate FJ, Peña M, Alonso-Blas C, et al. Mortality after osteoporotic hip fracture: incidence, trends, and associated factors. Journal of orthopaedic surgery and research. 2019;14(1):203.

39. Moja L, Piatti A, Pecoraro V, Ricci C, Virgili G, Salanti G, et al. Timing matters in hip fracture surgery: patients operated within 48 hours have better outcomes. A meta-analysis and meta-regression of over 190,000 patients. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e46175.

40. RIKSHÖFT. Annual Report 2014. 2014.

41. Wilson RT, Chase GA, Chrischilles EA, Wallace RB. Hip fracture risk among community-dwelling elderly people in the United States: a prospective study of physical, cognitive, and socioeconomic indicators. American journal of public health. 2006;96(7):1210-8.

42. Benetou V, Orfanos P, Feskanich D, Michaëlsson K, Pettersson-Kymmer U, Ahmed LA, et al. Education, marital status, and risk of hip fractures in older men and women: the CHANCES project. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2015;26(6):1733-46.

43. Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L. Socioeconomic aspects of fractures within universal public healthcare: a nationwide case-control study from Denmark. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2006;34(4):371-7.

44. Crandall CJ, Han W, Greendale GA, Seeman T, Tepper P, Thurston R, et al. Socioeconomic status in relation to incident fracture risk in the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2014;25(4):1379-88.

45. Barone AP, Fusco D, Colais P, D'Ovidio M, Belleudi V, Agabiti N, et al. Effects of socioeconomic position on 30-day mortality and wait for surgery after hip fracture. International journal for quality in health care : journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care. 2009;21(6):379-86.

46. Colais P, Agabiti N, Fusco D, Pinnarelli L, Sorge C, Perucci CA, et al. Inequality in 30-day mortality and the wait for surgery after hip fracture: the impact of the regional health care evaluation program in Lazio (Italy). International journal for quality in health care : journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care. 2013;25(3):239-47.

47. Freburger JK, Holmes GM, Ku LJ. Postacute rehabilitation care for hip fracture: who gets the most care? Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2012;60(10):1929-35.

48. Omsland TK, Eisman JA, Næss Ø, Center JR, Gjesdal CG, Tell GS, et al. Educational Inequalities in Post-Hip Fracture Mortality: A NOREPOS Studys. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research. 2015;30(12):2221-8.

49. Kristensen PK, Thillemann TM, Pedersen AB, Søballe K, Johnsen SP. Socioeconomic inequality in clinical outcome among hip fracture patients: a nationwide cohort study. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2017;28(4):1233-43.

50. Farahmand BY, Persson PG, Michaëlsson K, Baron JA, Parker MG, Ljunghall S. Socioeconomic status, marital status and hip fracture risk: a populationbased case-control study. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2000;11(9):803-8.

51. Castronuovo E, Pezzotti P, Franzo A, Di Lallo D, Guasticchi G. Early and late mortality in elderly patients after hip fracture: a cohort study using administrative health databases in the Lazio region, Italy. BMC geriatrics. 2011;11:37. 52. Nationella riktlinjer för rörelseorganens sjukdomar - Reumatoid artrit, axial spondylartrit, psoriasisartrit, artros och osteoporos: stöd för styrning och ledning 2021. Stockholm: The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare; 2021.

53. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204-22.

54. Turkiewicz A, Petersson IF, Björk J, Hawker G, Dahlberg LE, Lohmander LS, et al. Current and future impact of osteoarthritis on health care: a population-based study with projections to year 2032. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2014;22(11):1826-32.

55. Martel-Pelletier J, Barr AJ, Cicuttini FM, Conaghan PG, Cooper C, Goldring MB, et al. Osteoarthritis. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2016;2(1):16072.

56.The National Health Service (NHS). Overview - Osteoarthritis [cited202225thofNovember].Availablefrom:https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/osteoarthritis/.

57. Bedson J, Croft PR. The discordance between clinical and radiographic knee osteoarthritis: A systematic search and summary of the literature. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2008;9(1):116.

58. Magnusson K, Turkiewicz A, Englund M. Nature vs nurture in knee osteoarthritis - the importance of age, sex and body mass index. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27(4):586-92.

59. Skousgaard SG, Skytthe A, Moller S, Overgaard S, Brandt LP. Sex differences in risk and heritability estimates on primary knee osteoarthritis leading to total knee arthroplasty: a nationwide population based follow up study in Danish twins. Arthritis research & therapy. 2016;18:46.

60. Skousgaard SG, Hjelmborg J, Skytthe A, Brandt LP, Moller S, Overgaard S. Probability and heritability estimates on primary osteoarthritis of the hip leading to total hip arthroplasty: a nationwide population based follow-up study in Danish twins. Arthritis research & therapy. 2015;17:336.

61. Annual report 2020. The Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register.

62. Annual Report 2019. The Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register.

63. Tsuboi M, Hasegawa Y, Matsuyama Y, Suzuki S, Suzuki K, Imagama S. Do musculoskeletal degenerative diseases affect mortality and cause of death after 10 years in Japan? Journal of bone and mineral metabolism. 2011;29(2):217-23.

64. Nüesch E, Dieppe P, Reichenbach S, Williams S, Iff S, Jüni P. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. The BMJ. 2011;342:d1165.

65. Liu Q, Niu J, Huang J, Ke Y, Tang X, Wu X, et al. Knee osteoarthritis and all-cause mortality: the Wuchuan Osteoarthritis Study. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2015;23(7):1154-7.

66. Kluzek S, Sanchez-Santos MT, Leyland KM, Judge A, Spector TD, Hart D, et al. Painful knee but not hand osteoarthritis is an independent predictor of mortality over 23 years follow-up of a population-based cohort of middle-aged women. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2016;75(10):1749-56.

67. Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, Harvey PJ, Ravi B, Stanaitis I, et al. All-cause mortality and serious cardiovascular events in people with hip and knee osteoarthritis: a population based cohort study. PloS one. 2014;9(3):e91286.

68. Barbour KE, Lui LY, Nevitt MC, Murphy LB, Helmick CG, Theis KA, et al. Hip Osteoarthritis and the Risk of All-Cause and Disease-Specific Mortality in Older Women: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2015;67(7):1798-805.

69. Xing D, Xu Y, Liu Q, Ke Y, Wang B, Li Z, et al. Osteoarthritis and all-cause mortality in worldwide populations: grading the evidence from a metaanalysis. Scientific reports. 2016;6:24393.

70. Turkiewicz A, Neogi T, Bjork J, Peat G, Englund M. All-cause Mortality in Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis and Rheumatoid Arthritis. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass). 2016;27(4):479-85.

71. Liu R, Kwok WY, Vliet Vlieland TP, Kroon HM, Meulenbelt I, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, et al. Mortality in osteoarthritis patients. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2015;44(1):70-3.

72. Turkiewicz A, Kiadaliri AA, Englund M. Cause-specific mortality in osteoarthritis of peripheral joints. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27(6):848-54.

73. Tang X, Wang S, Zhan S, Niu J, Tao K, Zhang Y, et al. The Prevalence of Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis in China: Results From the China Health and Retirement Longitudinal Study. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2016;68(3):648-53.

74. Callahan LF, Cleveland RJ, Shreffler J, Schwartz TA, Schoster B, Randolph R, et al. Associations of educational attainment, occupation and community poverty with knee osteoarthritis in the Johnston County (North Carolina) osteoarthritis project. Arthritis research & therapy. 2011;13(5):R169.

75. Grotle M, Hagen KB, Natvig B, Dahl FA, Kvien TK. Prevalence and burden of osteoarthritis: results from a population survey in Norway. The Journal of rheumatology. 2008;35(4):677-84.

76. Cleveland RJ, Schwartz TA, Prizer LP, Randolph R, Schoster B, Renner JB, et al. Associations of Educational Attainment, Occupation and Community Poverty with Hip Osteoarthritis. Arthritis care & research. 2013;65(6):954-61.

77. Kiadaliri AA, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Turkiewicz A, Lohmander LS, Englund M. Socioeconomic inequalities in knee pain, knee osteoarthritis, and health-related quality of life: a population-based cohort study in southern Sweden. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2017;46(2):143-51.

78. Feldman CH, Dong Y, Katz JN, Donnell-Fink LA, Losina E. Association between socioeconomic status and pain, function and pain catastrophizing at presentation for total knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16:18-.

79. Juhakoski R, Tenhonen S, Anttonen T, Kauppinen T, Arokoski JP. Factors affecting self-reported pain and physical function in patients with hip osteoarthritis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2008;89(6):1066-73.

80. Wetterholm M, Turkiewicz A, Stigmar K, Hubertsson J, Englund M. The rate of joint replacement in osteoarthritis depends on the patient's socioeconomic status. Acta orthopaedica. 2016;87(3):245-51.

81. Rahman MM, Kopec JA, Sayre EC, Greidanus NV, Aghajanian J, Anis AH, et al. Effect of sociodemographic factors on surgical consultations and hip or knee replacements among patients with osteoarthritis in British Columbia, Canada. The Journal of rheumatology. 2011;38(3):503-9.

82. Hawkins K, Escoto KH, Ozminkowski RJ, Bhattarai GR, Migliori RJ, Yeh CS. Disparities in major joint replacement surgery among adults with Medicare supplement insurance. Population health management. 2011;14(5):231-8.

83. Brennan-Olsen S, Vogrin S, Holloway KL, Page RS, Sajjad MA, Kotowicz MA, et al. Geographic region, socioeconomic position and the utilisation of primary total joint replacement for hip or knee osteoarthritis across western Victoria: a cross-sectional multilevel study of the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. Archives of osteoporosis. 2017;12(1):97.

84. Brennan SL, Lane SE, Lorimer M, Buchbinder R, Wluka AE, Page RS, et al. Associations between socioeconomic status and primary total knee joint replacements performed for osteoarthritis across Australia 2003-10: data from the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:356-.

85. Piffaretti C, Moreno-Betancur M, Lamarche-Vadel A, Rey G. Quantifying cause-related mortality by weighting multiple causes of death. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2016;94(12):870-9.

86. Litwic A, Edwards MH, Dennison EM, Cooper C. Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. British medical bulletin. 2013;105:185-99.

87. Register. TSA. Annual report 2021. The Swedish Arthroplasty Register; 2021.

88. Klassifikation av operationer. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 1989.

89. Klassifikation av kirurgiska åtgärder 1997. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 1997.

90. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Det statistiska registrets framställning och kvalitet – Dödsorsaksregistret.2022.

91. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Det statistiska registrets framställning och kvalitet – Patientregistret.2022.

92. Löfvendahl S, Schelin MEC, Jöud A. The value of the Skåne Healthcare Register: Prospectively collected individual-level data for population-based studies. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2019;48(1):56-63.

93. Ludvigsson JF, Berglind D, Sundquist K, Sundström J, Tynelius P, Neovius M. The Swedish military conscription register: opportunities for its use in medical research. European journal of epidemiology. 2022;37(7):767-77.

94. Vittinghoff E, Glidden DV, SpringerLink, Shiboski SC, McCulloch CE. Regression Methods in Biostatistics. [Elektronisk resurs] Linear, Logistic, Survival, and Repeated Measures Models. 2nd ed. 2012. ed: Springer US; 2012.

95. Mackenbach JP, Kunst AE. Measuring the magnitude of socioeconomic inequalities in health: an overview of available measures illustrated with two examples from Europe. Social science & medicine (1982). 1997;44(6):757-71.

96. Moreno-Betancur M, Latouche A, Menvielle G, Kunst AE, Rey G. Relative index of inequality and slope index of inequality: a structured regression framework for estimation. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass). 2015;26(4):518-27.

97. Sjölander A, Frisell T, Öberg S. Sibling Comparison Studies. Annual Review of Statistics & Its Application. 2022;9:71-94.

98. Dahlqwist E, Pawitan Y, Sjölander A. Regression standardization and attributable fraction estimation with between-within frailty models for clustered survival data. Statistical methods in medical research. 2019;28(2):462-85.

99. Lichtenstein P, De Faire U, Floderus B, Svartengren M, Svedberg P, Pedersen NL. The Swedish Twin Registry: a unique resource for clinical, epidemiological and genetic studies. Journal of internal medicine. 2002;252(3):184-205.

100. Torr BM. The changing relationship between education and marriage in the United States, 1940-2000. Journal of family history. 2011;36(4):483-503.

101. Roberts SE, Goldacre MJ. Time trends and demography of mortality after fractured neck of femur in an English population, 1968-98: database study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2003;327(7418):771-5.

102. Mortimore E, Haselow D, Dolan M, Hawkes WG, Langenberg P, Zimmerman S, et al. Amount of social contact and hip fracture mortality. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2008;56(6):1069-74.

103. Dahl C, Holvik K, Meyer HE, Stigum H, Solbakken SM, Schei B, et al. Increased Mortality in Hip Fracture Patients Living Alone: A NOREPOS Study. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2021;36(3):480-8.

104. Manzoli L, Villari P, G MP, Boccia A. Marital status and mortality in the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Social science & medicine (1982). 2007;64(1):77-94.

105. Wang Y, Jiao Y, Nie J, O'Neil A, Huang W, Zhang L, et al. Sex differences in the association between marital status and the risk of cardiovascular, cancer, and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 7,881,040 individuals. Global health research and policy. 2020;5:4.

106. Statistics Sweden. Livslängden i Sverige 2011-2015 : livslängdstabeller för riket och länen = [Life expectancy in Sweden 2011-2015 : life tables at national and county level]. Stockholm: Statistiska centralbyrån; 2016.

107. Holmlund H, Sjögren A, Öckert B. Jämlikhet i möjligheter och utfall i den svenska skolan : bilaga 7 till Långtidsutredningen 2019: Norstedts juridik; 2019.

108. Simmonds M, Llewellyn A, Owen CG, Woolacott N. Predicting adult obesity from childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis.

Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2016;17(2):95-107.

109. Gortmaker SL, Must A, Perrin JM, Sobol AM, Dietz WH. Social and Economic Consequences of Overweight in Adolescence and Young Adulthood. New England Journal of Medicine. 1993;329(14):1008-12.

110. French SA, Wall M, Corbeil T, Sherwood NE, Berge JM, Neumark-Sztainer D. Obesity in Adolescence Predicts Lower Educational Attainment and Income in Adulthood: The Project EAT Longitudinal Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2018;26(9):1467-73.

111. Antony B, Jones G, Venn A, Cicuttini F, March L, Blizzard L, et al. Childhood Physical Performance Measures and Adulthood Knee Cartilage Volume and Bone Area: A 25-Year Cohort Study. Arthritis care & research. 2015;67(9):1263-71.

112. Turkiewicz A, Timpka S, Thorlund JB, Ageberg E, Englund M. Knee extensor strength and body weight in adolescent men and the risk of knee osteoarthritis by middle age. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2017;76(10):1657-61.

113. Pfeifer C, Cornelißen T. The impact of participation in sports on educational attainment—New evidence from Germany. Economics of Education Review. 2010;29(1):94-103.

114. Kari JT, Pehkonen J, Hutri-Kähönen N, Raitakari OT, Tammelin TH. Longitudinal Associations between Physical Activity and Educational Outcomes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2017;49(11):2158-66.

115. Kakwani N, Wagstaff A, van Doorslaer E. Socioeconomic inequalities in health: Measurement, computation, and statistical inference. Journal of Econometrics. 1997;77(1):87-103.

116. Oakes JM, Kaufman JS. Methods in social epidemiology. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2006.

117. Kjellsson G, Gerdtham U-G. On correcting the concentration index for binary variables. Journal of Health Economics. 2013;32(3):659-70.

118. O'Donnell O, O'Neill S, Ourti TV, Walsh B. conindex: Estimation of concentration indices. Stata Journal. 2016;16(1):112-38.

119. Ronald O. Male-Female Wage Differentials in Urban Labor Markets. International Economic Review. 1973;14(3):693-709.

120. Alan SB. Wage Discrimination: Reduced Form and Structural Estimates. The Journal of Human Resources. 1973;8(4):436-55.

121. Heckley G, Gerdtham UG, Kjellsson G. A general method for decomposing the causes of socioeconomic inequality in health. Journal of Health Economics EpiHealth: Epidemiology for Health. 2016;48:89-106.

122. Jann B. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition for linear regression models. Stata Journal. 2008;8(4):453-79.

123. Wagstaff A, van Doorslaer E, Watanabe N. On decomposing the causes of health sector inequalities with an application to malnutrition inequalities in Vietnam. Journal of Econometrics. 2003;112(1):207-23.

124. Erreygers G, Kessels R. Regression-based decompositions of rankdependent indicators of socioeconomic inequality of health. Research on Economic Inequality. 2013;21:227-59.

125. Rios-Avila F. Recentered influence functions (RIFs) in Stata: RIF regression and RIF decomposition. Stata Journal. 2020;20(1):51-94.

Bonita RB, R. Kjellström, T. Basic Epidemiology, 2 nd edition2006.
Bilgin A, Mendonca M, Wolke D. Preterm Birth/Low Birth Weight and Markers Reflective of Wealth in Adulthood: A Meta-analysis. Pediatrics.
2018:142(1).

128. Hussain SM, Wang Y, Wluka AE, Shaw JE, Magliano DJ, Graves S, et al. Association of low birth weight and preterm birth with the incidence of knee and hip arthroplasty for osteoarthritis. Arthritis care & research. 2015;67(4):502-8.

129. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Davey Smith G. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006;60(1):7-12.

130. Ortmanns V, Schneider SL. Harmonization Still Failing? Inconsistency of Education Variables in Cross-National Public Opinion Surveys. International Journal of Public Opinion Research. 2015;28(4):562-82.

131. Dubow EF, Boxer P, Huesmann LR. Long-term Effects of Parents' Education on Children's Educational and Occupational Success: Mediation by Family Interactions, Child Aggression, and Teenage Aspirations. Merrill Palmer Q (Wayne State Univ Press). 2009;55(3):224-49.

132. Plewis I, Bartley M. Intra-generational social mobility and educational qualifications. Research in Social Stratification and Mobility. 2014;36:1-11.

133. Currie J, Goodman J. Chapter 18 - Parental socioeconomic status, child health, and human capital. In: Bradley S, Green C, editors. The Economics of Education (Second Edition): Academic Press; 2020. p. 239-48.

134. Bossavie L, Kanninen O. What Explains the Gender Gap Reversal in Education? Theory and Evidence. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 8303. World Bank, Washington, DC. 2018.

135. Ross CE, Mirowsky J. Gender and the Health Benefits of Education. The Sociological Quarterly. 2010;51(1):1-19.

136. Statistics Sweden. Background Facts 2016:1, Integrated database for labour market research. Statistics Sweden; 2016.

137. Johansson LA, Bjorkenstam C, Westerling R. Unexplained differences between hospital and mortality data indicated mistakes in death certification: an investigation of 1,094 deaths in Sweden during 1995. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2009;62(11):1202-9.

138. Donaldson LJ, Parsons L, Cook AJ. Death certification in fractured neck of femur. Public Health. 1989;103(4):237-43.

139. Moreno-Betancur M, Sadaoui H, Piffaretti C, Rey G. Survival Analysis with Multiple Causes of Death: Extending the Competing Risks Model. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass). 2017;28(1):12-9. 140. Grahn B, Stigmar K, Holmberg S, Petersson I. WorkUp-slutrapport2016.

141. Wu TY, Jen MH, Bottle A, Liaw CK, Aylin P, Majeed A. Admission rates and in-hospital mortality for hip fractures in England 1998 to 2009: time trends study. Journal of public health (Oxford, England). 2011;33(2):284-91.

142. Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L. Increased mortality in patients with a hip fracture-effect of pre-morbid conditions and post-fracture complications. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2007;18(12):1583-93.

143. Leslie WD, Brennan SL, Prior HJ, Lix LM, Metge C, Elias B. The contributions of First Nations ethnicity, income, and delays in surgery on mortality post-fracture: a population-based analysis. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2013;24(4):1247-56.

144. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. Smoking and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2005;16(2):155-62.

145. Gregg EW, Pereira MA, Caspersen CJ. Physical activity, falls, and fractures among older adults: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2000;48(8):883-93.

146. Brattström Ö, Eriksson M, Larsson E, Oldner A. Socio-economic status and co-morbidity as risk factors for trauma. European journal of epidemiology. 2015;30(2):151-7.

147. Roche JJ, Wenn RT, Sahota O, Moran CG. Effect of comorbidities and postoperative complications on mortality after hip fracture in elderly people: prospective observational cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2005;331(7529):1374.

148. Söderqvist A, Ekström W, Ponzer S, Pettersson H, Cederholm T, Dalén N, et al. Prediction of mortality in elderly patients with hip fractures: a twoyear prospective study of 1,944 patients. Gerontology. 2009;55(5):496-504.

149. Clegg LX, Reichman ME, Miller BA, Hankey BF, Singh GK, Lin YD, et al. Impact of socioeconomic status on cancer incidence and stage at diagnosis: selected findings from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results: National Longitudinal Mortality Study. Cancer causes & control : CCC. 2009;20(4):417-35.

150. Dagenais GR, Leong DP, Rangarajan S, Lanas F, Lopez-Jaramillo P, Gupta R, et al. Variations in common diseases, hospital admissions, and deaths in middle-aged adults in 21 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2019.

151. Hannan MT, Anderson JJ, Pincus T, Felson DT. Educational attainment and osteoarthritis: differential associations with radiographic changes and symptom reporting. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1992;45(2):139-47.

152. Jones NL, Gilman SE, Cheng TL, Drury SS, Hill CV, Geronimus AT. Life Course Approaches to the Causes of Health Disparities. American journal of public health. 2019;109(S1):S48-S55.

153. Kulkarni K, Karssiens T, Kumar V, Pandit H. Obesity and osteoarthritis. Maturitas. 2016;89:22-8.

154. Raud B, Gay C, Guiguet-Auclair C, Bonnin A, Gerbaud L, Pereira B, et al. Level of obesity is directly associated with the clinical and functional consequences of knee osteoarthritis. Scientific reports. 2020;10(1):3601-.

155. Lohmander LS, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Rollof J, Nilsson PM, Engström G. Incidence of severe knee and hip osteoarthritis in relation to different measures of body mass: a population-based prospective cohort study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2009;68(4):490.

Matthiessen J, Stockmarr A, Fagt S, Knudsen VK, Biltoft-Jensen A.
Danish children born to parents with lower levels of education are more likely to become overweight. Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992). 2014;103(10):1083-8.
Magnusson K, Scurrah K, Ystrom E, Orstavik RE, Nilsen T, Steingrimsdottir OA, et al. Genetic factors contribute more to hip than knee surgery due to osteoarthritis - a population-based twin registry study of joint arthroplasty. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2017;25(6):878-84.

158. Kiadaliri AA, Lohmander LS, Moradi-Lakeh M, Petersson IF, Englund M. High and rising burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis in the Nordic region, 1990-2015. Acta orthopaedica. 2018;89(2):177-83.

159. Kiadaliri AA, Rinaldi G, Lohmander LS, Petersson IF, Englund M. Temporal trend and regional disparity in osteoarthritis hospitalisations in Sweden 1998-2015. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2019;47(1):53-60.

160. A WD, Robertsson O, Lidgren L. Surgery for knee osteoarthritis in younger patients. Acta orthopaedica. 2010;81(2):161-4.

161. Ibrahim SA. Racial variations in the utilization of knee and hip joint replacement: an introduction and review of the most recent literature. Current orthopaedic practice. 2010;21(2):126-31.

162. Andersson JJ, Felson DT. Factors associated with osteoarthritis of the knee in the first national health and nutrition examiniation survey (HANES I): Evidence for an association with overweight, race, and physical demands of work. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1988;128(1):179-89.

163. Sandmark H, Hogstedt C, Vingård E. Primary osteoarthrosis of the knee in men and women as a result of lifelong physical load from work. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2000;26(1):20-5.

164. Bergmann A, Bolm-Audorff U, Krone D, Seidler A, Liebers F, Haerting J, et al. Occupational Strain as a Risk for Hip Osteoarthritis. Deutsches Arzteblatt international. 2017;114(35-36):581-8.

165. Gustafsson K, Kvist J, Eriksson M, Dahlberg LE, Rolfson O. Socioeconomic status of patients in a Swedish national self-management program

for osteoarthritis compared with the general population-a descriptive observational study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2020;21(1):10-.

166. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Statistikdatabas för dödsorsaker [cited 2023 29th of January]. Available from: https://sdb.socialstyrelsen.se/if\_dor/val.aspx.

167. Ma J, Siegel RL, Ward EM, Jemal A. State-level educational disparities in mortality in the United States, 2010–2014. Preventive Medicine. 2018;106:53-9.

168. de Vries E, Arroyave I, Pardo C. Time trends in educational inequalities in cancer mortality in Colombia, 1998-2012. BMJ open. 2016;6(4):e008985.

169. Puigpinós R, Borrell C, Antunes JL, Azlor E, Pasarín MI, Serral G, et al. Trends in socioeconomic inequalities in cancer mortality in Barcelona: 1992-2003. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:35.

170. Strand BH, Steingrímsdóttir Ó A, Grøholt EK, Ariansen I, Graff-Iversen S, Næss Ø. Trends in educational inequalities in cause specific mortality in Norway from 1960 to 2010: a turning point for educational inequalities in cause specific mortality of Norwegian men after the millennium? BMC Public Health. 2014;14:1208.





Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:38 ISBN 978-91-8021-377-6 ISSN 1652-8220

